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An Overview

The Department of Aboriginal Affairs is the lead State Government agency responsible for 
ensuring better outcomes for Aboriginal people.  

It does this through: 
• preserving and protecting Aboriginal sites to deliver optimal social, financial and 

environmental returns for Western Australians; 
• releasing the potential of land for the use of Aboriginal people to achieve their social, 

economic and cultural aspirations; 
• supporting Aboriginal people to advance their priorities, through community focused 

policy, partnerships and programs; and 
• improving accountability for the delivery of outcomes from government investment 

for Aboriginal people. 

• Executive Summary 
• About the Department of Aboriginal Affairs
• Structure and Functions
• Significant Issues and Opportunities
• Performance Management Framework  
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The 2016-17 Annual Report will be the final annual report for the Department of 
Aboriginal Affairs.   Following a change of Government and Machinery of Government 
restructure of the Western Australian public sector, from 1 July 2017, the functions of the 
Department will be delivered by the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage; 
Department of Communities; Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural 
Industries; and the Department of the Premier and Cabinet.  

During 2016-17, the Department has continued to deliver projects and services that are 
significant to Aboriginal people across Western Australia, capitalising on the significant 
recent investments in improving services, systems and capability.

Across the Department, the priorities for the agency include: 
• Building engagement and participation;
• Improving statutory approval processing performance;
• Improving access to grants and services;
• Respecting Aboriginal history, culture and heritage;
• Improving economic participation; and 
• Divesting Aboriginal land.

Building engagement and participation
The active participation of Departmental staff in groups and committees across the State has 
built trust and improved communication networks between the Government and Aboriginal 
stakeholders, and has resulted in faster and more informed responses to issues as they arise.  

During the year, 17 Noongar Standard Heritage Agreement workshops were held, with 223 
participants from government, industry and Aboriginal advisory bodies as part of ongoing 
commitment to enhancing relationships to facilitate better outcomes for heritage 
protection.  

The Department was instrumental in the establishment of the Kalgoorlie Boulder Aboriginal 
Community Residents Group, and has explored more location based Aboriginal community 
reference groups across the State, to provide an increased voice to Aboriginal people, 
organisations and communities that are impacted by Government decisions and services. 

Improving our statutory approvals processing performance 
The Department achieved significant improvements in its statutory approvals processing 
performance, achieving a 25 per cent improvement in processing time for heritage related 
statutory processes, including Section 18 applications.  The Department has committed to 
Aboriginal heritage reforms that are aimed at improvements that reach a workable balance 
between protecting Aboriginal heritage and enabling development.  
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Administering grants and programs 
The Department administered grants, sponsorships and programs aimed at preservation of 
heritage; promoting reconciliation; promoting partnerships, sharing and learning; as well as 
providing on ground assistance to Aboriginal people who are at risk of harm.  During the year, 
the Department: 
• Granted 13 Preserving our Aboriginal Heritage Grants (to the value of $495,299) 
• Granted 920 PALS projects developed in more than 600 schools across WA – a 26 per 

cent increase compared to 2015-16. 
• Facilitated 14 Aboriginal Community Patrols services delivered across regional WA and 

Perth metropolitan area.
• Engaged 150 organisations who sponsored 360 banners in the Reconciliation Week 

Street Banner Project – a 10 per cent increase compared to 2015-16. 

Aboriginal history, culture and heritage 
During the year the Aboriginal History Research Unit provided 190 comprehensive family 
history responses, 31 native title research requests, and 22 general research applications.  In 
addition to this, the unit responded to 580 external and some internal research related 
enquiries.  

The Department also produced the Right Wrongs educational toolkit, to coincide with the 50-
year anniversary of 1967 Referendum, and assist educators to develop an awareness and 
understanding about this and other related historical events.

The Department continued to deliver heritage related projects considered of high 
importance to the Aboriginal community, including protection of Aboriginal ancestral 
remains and return on sacred objects. During the year 15 ancestral remain repatriation 
ceremonies involving 15 separate sets of remains and two repatriations of objects were 
completed. 

Divesting Aboriginal land 
The Department, on behalf of the ALT, has taken a practical approach to land tenure 
improvement through the issue of leases and land development applications.  During the 
year, the ALT Board approved twelve parcels of land to be divested to the direct control of 
Aboriginal people or organisations, which exceeded the target of ten for the period.  

The Department, on behalf of the ALT, also coordinated a Roundtable meeting in Broome to 
progress land tenure reform and the divestment of the Aboriginal Lands Trust estate. The 
meeting was attended by the Minister for Aboriginal Affairs and a group of Aboriginal 
stakeholders.

Acknowledgements
The Department of Aboriginal Affairs is a small department, with dedicated teams of people, 
who are deeply committed to delivering great services, and to seeing better outcomes for 
Aboriginal people.   Thanks to the strategic partners and dedicated staff, the Department has 
matured and thrived in the face of increasing pressures faced by public sector agencies.  
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Department of Aboriginal Affairs

Purpose

Future

Managing Aboriginal heritage and land held in trust for future generations. 

Ensuring better outcomes for Aboriginal people through community development and 
government investments. 

Aboriginal people benefit from the same opportunities as non-Aboriginal people whilst 
maintaining a strong, vibrant culture. 

Values
Embrace Aboriginal culture: Respect Aboriginal cultural values and ways of working and 

promote an improved understanding in the wider community. 

Show respect: Value the worth of individuals, Aboriginal expertise, the 
knowledge of Elders and our Australian Indigenous History.

Take responsibility:  Take ownership of our actions and clearly articulate their 
purpose and outcomes.

Act with Integrity:   Earn and sustain public trust by performing our work 
conscientiously, reliably and transparently. 

Foster Innovation:  Develop leading edge approaches and translate them into 
tangible action for the benefit of the community. 

Achieve Excellence:  Strive to do things better and collectively create a culture of 
the community. 
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Responsible Minister 
At 30 June 2017, the Department of Aboriginal Affairs was responsible to the Hon 
Ben Wyatt, Treasurer;  Minister for Finance; Energy; Aboriginal Affairs.

Enabling Legislation 
The Department of Aboriginal Affairs was established as a Department under section 35 
of the Public Sector Management Act 1994. 

Administered Legislation 
The Department of Aboriginal Affairs was responsible for administering the following 
legislation that affect the wellbeing of Aboriginal people: 

Aboriginal Affairs Planning 
Authority Act 1972

• Covers consultation, planning, coordination and 
adequacy of services for Aboriginal people. 

• Establishes the Aboriginal Lands Trust, which has 
operational functions related to land. 

Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 • Provides specific responsibilities relating to the 
management and protection of heritage sites. 

Aboriginal Heritage 
(Marandoo) Act 1992

• Provides specific responsibilities relating to the 
management and protection of heritage sites at the 
Marandoo mine and its associated infrastructure.

Aboriginal Communities Act 
1979

• Enables Aboriginal people to establish by-laws that 
govern conduct on,  and access to, community lands. 
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Until 30 June 2017, the Department of Aboriginal Affairs was the lead State Government 
agency responsible for ensuring better outcomes for Aboriginal people.  
It delivered this through: 
• preserving and protecting Aboriginal sites to deliver optimal social, financial and 

environmental returns for Western Australians; 
• releasing the potential of land for the utilisation of Aboriginal people to achieve their 

social, economic and cultural aspirations; 
• supporting Aboriginal people to advance their priorities, through community-led 

policy, partnerships and programs; and 
• improving accountability for the delivery of outcomes from government investment 

for Aboriginal people. 

Background
The Department of Aboriginal Affairs (the Department) was established in 1994 through 
the amalgamation of the then Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority, Office of Traditional 
Land Use in the Department of the Premier and Cabinet and Department of Aboriginal 
Sites, housed in the Western Australian Museum.

The Department  was responsible for administering legislation that affects the wellbeing 
of Aboriginal people, including the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972, the 
Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 and the Aboriginal Communities Act 1979.

Under the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972, the Department has 
responsibility for advising government on the adequacy, implementation and 
coordination of services to Aboriginal people in Western Australia.  It engages with the 
Aboriginal community to ensure Aboriginal people play a key role in policy development.

The Department also supports the work of the Aboriginal Lands Trust (ALT), a body that 
holds 24 million hectares, almost 10 per cent of the State’s land area, in trust for 
Aboriginal people in Western Australia. In addition to an ongoing responsibility to return 
the land to Aboriginal people and groups, the ALT manages the physical and built 
environment of the estate. More than 15,000 people live on the ALT estate in 155 
regional and remote Aboriginal communities and 28 town based reserves. 
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Under the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972, the Department worked with Aboriginal 
people to protect and manage places of significance, provide advice to the public and 
private sectors and the community about Aboriginal heritage management, and 
maintain the Register of Places and Objects. The Department also assisted Aboriginal 
families and native title parties to access information that may assist them, including 
demonstrating their connections to Country.

As part of the State’s project approvals system, the Department worked with 
developers to ensure that Aboriginal heritage and engagement with Aboriginal people  
was built into development planning processes. The Aboriginal Cultural Material 
Committee (ACMC), comprising Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal heritage experts, 
provided advice to the Minister for Aboriginal Affairs on the management of sites of 
significance in the development process. 
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Under the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972, the Department worked with Aboriginal 
people to protect and manage places of significance, provide advice to the public and 
private sectors and the community about Aboriginal heritage management, and 
maintain the Register of Places and Objects. The Department also assisted Aboriginal 
families and native title parties to access information that may assist them, including 
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was built into development planning processes. The Aboriginal Cultural Material 
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Director General 
Vaughan Davies was appointed to act in the Director General position in November 
2016, following four years as a member of the Corporate Executive in the Accountable 
Government Directorate before being appointed Assistant Director General in 
December 2015.

Office of the Director General 
Ross Tomasini was appointed to act in the Assistant Director General position in 
November 2016, and substantively held the Executive Director, Community 
Development position.  

The Office of the Director General managed the executive and corporate 
responsibilities of the Department in respect to executive processes, policy 
development, Ministerial coordination, boards and committees support and strategy 
and performance management. 

Corporate Services 
Glen Kar was the Executive Director of the Corporate Services directorate. 

The Corporate Services directorate managed the corporate responsibilities of the 
Department in respect to financial management, human resources management, 
information solutions and legal services. 

Heritage
Tiffiny Vale was the acting Executive Director of the Heritage directorate (Chief 
Heritage Officer). 

The Heritage directorate was focused on achieving the right balance between 
development and protection of Aboriginal heritage to ensure economic opportunities 
are leveraged for the benefit of the whole Western Australian community.  

The directorate achieved this through: research and advice to Aboriginal people, 
government, community and industry on matters relating to Aboriginal heritage; 
processing statutory approvals; administration of heritage sites register; and other 
heritage protection and compliance activities.  
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Land
Neil Thomson was the Executive Director of the Land directorate (Chief Land Officer). 

The Land directorate was focused on better use of the ALT estate to achieve shared 
social and economic outcomes. 

The services to deliver this objective involved providing advice to the ALT, Aboriginal 
people, government and other key stakeholders in relation to managing the ALT estate, 
processing land access approvals, assisting with operational management and 
development of land, management of strategic initiatives by the ALT, and facilitating the 
transfer of land to Aboriginal people. 

Accountable Government 
Lucy Gunn was the Executive Director of the Accountable Government directorate. 

The directorate provided strategic oversight and monitoring of government investment 
to improve outcomes for Aboriginal people in Western Australia.  

The directorate provided research advice and support for the Aboriginal Affairs 
Coordinating Committee and its sub-committees, and provided advice, monitored and 
reported on the delivery of outcomes for Aboriginal people and intergovernmental 
activities. 

Community Development 
Anna Wyatt was appointed to act in the Executive Director of Community Development 
in February 2017. 

The Community Development directorate supported Aboriginal people to advance their 
priorities through community-led policy, partnerships and programs. 

The directorate delivered projects and services to support the ambitions of Aboriginal 
people and develop awareness of Aboriginal culture and history in the broader Western 
Australian community. Those services included providing community grants and 
sponsorship, and developing partnerships that build the capacity of Aboriginal people to 
improve social outcomes. 
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Significant issues in Aboriginal 
Affairs
Aboriginal Heritage Administrative Reform 
Aboriginal heritage is important to all Western Australians. Collectively, all of the 
stakeholders are committed to maintaining the protection of Aboriginal heritage in a 
manner that does not place unnecessary regulatory burdens that could jeopardise the 
State’s development aspirations. 

The intent of the Aboriginal heritage reform agenda was to reach a workable 
equilibrium between protecting Aboriginal heritage and enabling development.

Key to the success of the Aboriginal heritage reform to date was strengthening the 
procedural fairness process.  This has increased the transparency of the process and 
decision making, while enabling a voice for people with knowledge of Aboriginal 
heritage regarding specific assessments or applications made under the Aboriginal 
Heritage Act 1972 (AHA). 

The ongoing reform process also focused on the need to amend the Act as it is widely 
accepted by the Western Australian community that more than 40 years after its 
commencement, the Act is now out of date and a new or rejuvenated legislation is 
required for the preservation of Aboriginal heritage. 

Reassessment of 35 Aboriginal Heritage Places
On 1 April 2015, Justice Chaney released his decision on Robinson vs Fielding [2015] 
WASC 108 (Chaney decision). In 2015 the Department, through the Aboriginal Affairs 
Cultural Material Committee, commenced the reassessment of 35 Aboriginal heritage 
places that were impacted as a result of the Chaney decision.

These 35 places had previously been assessed as places to which section 5 of the 
Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 (AHA) did not apply based on guidance documents that 
were subsequently found by Justice Chaney to contain passages that were not 
consistent with the construction of section 5 of the Act.  

As at 30 June 2017, 24 of the 35 Aboriginal heritage places have been reassessed, 
seven have been deferred by the ACMC pending further information from Traditional 
Owners, and four are on hold pending further consultation.
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One of the Aboriginal heritage places to be reassessed is referenced as ID 30274 or 
LSC11, and consists of approximately 70 kilometres of coastline along the Dampier 
Peninsula and covers the township of Broome.  The Department is currently 
undertaking the necessary preparatory work for the ACMC’s reassessment of those 
remaining Aboriginal heritage places.  

Backlog of Aboriginal Heritage Places requiring assessment by 
the Aboriginal Cultural Material Committee

The Department receives information about possible Aboriginal sites across the 
State for inclusion on the Register of Places and Objects. For a number of years, the 
ACMC has predominantly dealt with those Aboriginal heritage places associated with 
a statutory application. 

These places were maintained on an Aboriginal heritage database and referred to as 
‘lodged’ places. Although not yet subject to formal assessment by the ACMC the 
lodged places are visible to the public on the Department’s Aboriginal Heritage 
Inquiry system.

There was a need to provide clarity for Aboriginal knowledge holders and potential 
land users whether a place alleged to be an Aboriginal site under the AHA (lodged 
places) are in fact protected under the legislation. Lodged places that would be 
found by the ACMC to meet the criteria of section 5 of the AHA remain vulnerable if 
not formally assessed. 

There are currently 15,820 Aboriginal heritage places that may be sites under section 
5 of the AHA that are yet to be formally assessed by the ACMC.  
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South West Native Title Settlement 
The South West Native Title Settlement (the Settlement) is the largest and most 
comprehensive agreement to settle Aboriginal interests over land in Australia since 
European settlement. Involving around 30,000 Noongar people and covering 
approximately 200,000 square kilometres, the Settlement provides an opportunity for 
the Western Australian Government to work in partnership with the Noongar 
community to improve their economic, social and cultural development.  

The Western Australian Government and Noongar representatives have been in 
negotiations since 2009. The six native title claim groups are the Yued;  Ballardong 
People; Whadjuk People; Gnaala Karla Booja; South West Boojarah #2; and Wagyl Kaip
and Southern Noongar.  All six Settlement Agreements were signed by all parties on 
8 June 2015, including the South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Corporation (SWALSC) 
and State Ministers and Government bodies.

On 2 February 2017, the Federal Court found that all of the persons who jointly 
comprise the Registered Native Title Claimant or Applicant (including any deceased 
person) must sign each relevant Settlement Agreement before it can be considered an 
Indigenous Land Use Agreements (ILUA) capable of registration by the Native Title 
Registrar. Where a person who jointly comprises the Registered Native Title Claimant or 
Applicant does not sign, there must be an application under section 66B of the Native 
Title Act 1993 (Cth) (NTA) to replace the Applicant. 

As a result, four Settlement Agreements affected by the Court proceedings, being 
Whadjuk People, Ballardong People, South West Boojarah, and Wagyl Kaip & Southern 
Noongar, are not able to be registered as ILUAs under the NTA because not all named 
native title applicants had signed.

On 22 June 2017 the Native Title Amendment (Indigenous Land Use Agreements) Act 
2017 received royal assent and commenced operation, with the effect that the four 
South West Native Title Settlement agreements (Whadjuk, Ballardong, South West 
Boojarah #2 and Wagyl Kaip & Southern Noongar) are now taken to be ILUAs.

New applications will now be made to the Native Title Registrar to consider these four 
ILUAs for registration.
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Divestment of ALT estate
There is an increasing awareness of the need for Aboriginal communities to create 
private interests on Aboriginal lands, which might provide economic activity, home 
ownership and investment opportunities for Aboriginal people, while having the 
option of retaining native title.  

Land tenure reform is a significant economic enabler for Aboriginal people who live 
on or have traditional ownership of land. This reform is particularly important on 
reserve lands held by the ALT. These lands are inhabited by 80 per cent of all remote 
Aboriginal community populations and cover almost 10 per cent of the State. They 
are also among the most disadvantaged communities, with low economic 
participation rates and significant social disadvantage.

Private ownership through land tenure is a cornerstone of investment, including 
business investment and home ownership. In the last two years, the Department and 
the ALT has taken a practical approach to land tenure improvement by providing 
rights and interests on distinct parcels of land. Furthermore, the ALT has sub-leased 
two of its pastoral leases to commercial interests working in partnership with 
Traditional Owners or Aboriginal corporations, with a further four sub-leases being 
negotiated.

The State Government has made significant commitments concerning divestment of 
ALT estate in the Kimberley region.  In June 2017, a Roundtable was held in Broome 
regarding land tenure reform and divestment. The meeting was attended by the 
Minister for Aboriginal Affairs and senior Aboriginal leadership based in the 
Kimberley, as an initial step to progress the Government election commitment to 
divest the ALT estate.

Management of the Aboriginal Lands Trust Estate 
Under the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972 (AAPA Act), the AAPA and 
ALT manage 9.65 per cent of Western Australia’s land mass, equating to 24 million 
hectares. More than 12,000 people live on the AAPA/ALT estate, in 155 regional and 
remote Aboriginal communities and 28 town based reserves. 

The land management requirements of the ALT and AAPA rely on non-restricted cash 
reserves held in the AAPA and managed by the Department. Operational funds for 
these entities do not come from the Department’s budget allocation.  
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Many Aboriginal people are living in substandard living conditions in regional and 
remote Aboriginal communities, many of which are on the ALT estate.  Funding  was 
expended on unavoidable operating costs, such as power disruption, risks to public 
health, road safety, demolition of abandoned housing, contaminated site remediation 
and community clean ups. The ALT has been limited to addressing extreme and high 
risk infrastructure issues on the estate. 

The Department has undertaken a small-scale audit program in several high risk 
Aboriginal communities. It is approximated that two per cent of structures on the ALT 
estate have been audited.  Moderate to high risks have been identified, highlighting 
the presence of exposed asbestos, non-compliant electrical safety issues, 
contamination, poorly maintained sewer systems and other breaches in regulatory 
standards.  These ongoing repair, maintenance and remediation issues continue to be 
addressed to reduce risks to public health and improve wellbeing on the ALT estate. 

Town Based Reserves
Implementing the Whole of Government Policy Framework for the transition of 
Aboriginal Town Based Reserves in Western Australia was led by the Regional Services 
Reform Unit, however, individual government agencies have also pursued Town Based 
Reserves projects as opportunities and resources allow. 

At 30 June 2017, there were 38 Town Based Reserves in Western Australia, occupied 
by approximately 3,000 people, 28 of which are located on ALT estate.  

The ALT and the Department have worked closely with communities on Town Based 
Reserves to ensure greater community safety and improved amenity having recently 
undertaken repairs, clean-ups and demolitions in Ninga Mia, Irrungadji, Parnpajinya, 
One Mile and Mallingbar.

The ALT has progressed the leasing of individual housing lots within Nambi Village in 
Leonora to the Katampul Aboriginal Corporation.  This leasing arrangement allows the 
Corporation to secure Commonwealth infrastructure funding and  was an interim step 
towards regularisation of the community.   

The Department, together with partner agencies, has investigated options for 
improved housing for residents living at Mallingbar and One Mile in Broome. 

The ALT and the Department have worked with the Pilbara Development Commission 
to undertake reform of seven Town Based Reserves in the Pilbara region.
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Indigenous Language Interpreters 
The Western Australian  Government is currently evaluating State-wide need and 
solutions to support Indigenous interpreters for Aboriginal people who have 
difficulty understanding English and/or being understood by English speakers to 
facilitate equitable access to health, Centrelink and justice services.

Cashless Debit Card Trial Extension 
On 14 October 2015, the Federal Parliament passed an amendment to the Social 
Security (Administration) Act 1999 to conduct a Cashless Debit Card Trial (CDCT) for 
12 months in up to three communities.  

Under the CDCT, working age income support recipients receive payments on a 
debit card that will not work at liquor or gambling outlets and can only be used for 
the purchase of essential goods, leaving 20 per cent of income support payments 
available as cash; with a small number of people allowed up to 50 per cent as cash 
based on genuine need.   

The CDCT was conducted for an initial 12 month period from March 2016 in Ceduna 
and surrounds (South Australia), and from April 2016 in the East Kimberley 
(Kununurra and Wyndham). No third site was chosen.

Longer timeframes are needed to assess trends and attribution, particularly the 
operational data pertaining to crime, violence and harm.   
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Aboriginal Communities Liquor Control Procedural Guideline
The Liquor Control Act 1988 (LCA) regulates the sale, supply and consumption of liquor, 
the use of premises on which liquor is sold and the services and facilities provided in 
conjunction with, or ancillary to the sale of liquor in order to minimise harm or ill-
health caused to people by the use of liquor.

Section 175 Restrictions under the LCA are declared by the Governor of Western 
Australia on the recommendation of the Minister for Racing and Gaming. These 
restrictions: 

• apply to a declared area of the State;
• may prohibit the bringing in, possession and consumption of liquor in the 

declared area; and 
• may provide for penalties to apply to people who contravene the restrictions.

In accordance with the provisions of Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972 (the 
AAPA Act), specifically section 13(1), the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority (AAPA) 
advises on the adequacy, implementation and coordination of services to be provided 
from other sources to Aboriginal people. 

The Department provided support to the Authority in advising on applications, from 
the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor (DRGL), for liquor restrictions through 
the assessment of proposals/inquiries under the LCA. 

This included consultation with key stakeholders to provide advice/recommendations 
regarding:

• Section 175 Restrictions;
• Section 175 Extension of Restrictions;
• Section 64 Licensee Conditions; and
• Other proposals/inquiries under the LCA as required. 

Procedural Guidelines were developed on how communities can access liquor 
restrictions and how to seek support through the process.
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Digitisation of Aboriginal history records 
The State Records Office of Western Australia (SROWA) are custodians of approximately 
15,000 archival files containing records of the preceding Departmental agencies responsible 
for  administration related to Aboriginal affairs in Western Australia between 1896 and 1972.

The majority of records managed by the Department are administrative files dealing with 
mission, station and personal records. Of these files around 13,200 are restricted and 
managed by the Department. Access to restricted files is provided in compliance with the 
State Records Act 2000.  The files are accessed by Departmental staff to provide Aboriginal 
family history information to members of the Aboriginal community and to third party 
researchers.

During the reporting period the Department with the Department of Culture and the Arts 
(DCA), through the SROWA undertook a joint project to digitise the files held by the SROWA.  
The project entailed the scanning and application of Optical Character Recognition (OCR) 
software to the records in line with the standards adopted by the SROWA.   This work will 
improve access to the records and expedite response sto family history requests. 

Machinery of Government impact on service delivery 
Following the Machinery of Government changes announced by the Premier, the 
Department of Aboriginal Affairs has been abolished as at 30 June 2017.  

The functions of the Department, however, will continue to be delivered as follows: 
Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage
• Aboriginal Heritage (including services to the Aboriginal Cultural Material Committee) 
• Aboriginal Land (including services to the Aboriginal Lands Trust) 

Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries 
• Aboriginal History Research Unit 
• Reconciliation programs (including PALS and the Street Banner Project).

Department of Communities 
• Regional coordination 
• Aboriginal Community Patrols Program 

Department of the Premier and Cabinet 
• Aboriginal Policy (including services to the Western Australian Aboriginal Advisory 

Council) 

In accordance with section 68 of the Financial Management Act 2006, relating to reporting 
arrangements following the abolition of an agency, Mr Maurice Hanrahan has been 
appointed as the Reporting Officer for the final annual report of the Department of 
Aboriginal Affairs. 
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Performance Management 
Framework 
The Department of Aboriginal Affairs’ Outcome Service structure and performance 
management framework aligns to the Department’s strategic framework and Outcome 
Based Management (OBM) Framework.  

The strategic framework 2016-17 was implemented during the year.  Outcomes and services 
are structured to deliver on the strategic goals of each of the services, each with approved 
key effectiveness and efficiency indicators.  These cascade into service level operational 
plans through to individual performance agreements, providing a true alignment of 
individual work plans towards the Department’s strategic goals. 

Outcome Based Management Framework
The Department contributes to the two Government goals of : 
• Social and environmental responsibility:  ensuring that economic activity is managed in a 

socially and environmentally responsible manner for the long term benefit of the State; 
and 

• Financial and economic responsibility: responsibly managing the State’s finances through 
the efficient and effective delivery of services, encouraging economic activity and 
reducing regulatory burden on the private sector.  

OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

27



Go
ve

rn
m

en
t G

oa
l

O
ut

co
m

e 
st

at
em

en
t

Ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s I
nd

ic
at

or
Se

rv
ic

e
Ef

fic
ie

nc
y 

In
di

ca
to

r

The OBM framework demonstrates the relationship between the Department’s services and 
desired outcomes, and the government goals to which they contribute.  The key 
effectiveness indicators measure the extent of the impact of the delivery of services on the 
achievement of desired outcomes.  The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship 
between the service delivered and the resources used to produce the service. 

Financial and Economic Responsibility
Responsibly managing the State’s finances through the efficient and effective 

delivery of services, encouraging economic activity and reducing regulatory 
burdens on the private sector.

Social and Environmental 
Responsibility
Ensuring that economic 
activity is managed in a 
socially and 
environmentally responsible 
manner for the long-term 
benefit of the State.

Achieving the right 
balance between 
development and 
protection to ensure 
economic opportunities 
are leveraged to the 
benefit of the whole 
community.

Better utilisation of the 
Aboriginal Lands Trust 
estate to achieve 
shared social and 
economic outcomes.

Improving 
accountability for the 
delivery of outcomes 
for Aboriginal people 
from government 
investments.

Supporting the Western 
Australian Aboriginal 
community to independently 
determine and further their 
identified priorities.

Percentage of direct 
stakeholders satisfied 
with the service related 
to the management of 
Aboriginal heritage.

Percentage of direct 
stakeholders satisfied 
with the services 
related to the 
management of the 
Aboriginal Lands Trust 
estate.

Percentage of direct 
stakeholders satisfied 
with the services 
related to improving 
accountability for the 
delivery of services to 
Aboriginal people.

Percentage of direct 
stakeholders satisfied with 
services related to 
community development 
programs for Aboriginal 
people.

Heritage management Land management Community Development

• Average processing 
time per statutory 
approval.

• Average time to 
update the Register.

• Average time to 
complete the initial 
assessment.

Average processing 
time per land 
transaction

Average cost per 1,000 
of Aboriginal population.

Average cost per initiative 
funded.

Accountable Government
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OUTCOME 1 - Achieving the right balance between development and
protection to ensure economic opportunities are leveraged to the benefit of
the whole community

SERVICE: Heritage Management
We preserve and protect Aboriginal sites to deliver optimal social, financial and 
environmental returns for all Western Australians. 

Preservation and Celebration: Aboriginal heritage is one of the State’s greatest assets. 
Improving accessibility to Aboriginal site information preserves this asset for current 
and future generations. 
Trust and Accountability: Improving the accuracy and quality of heritage information 
enhances relationships with Traditional Owners and improves decision making. 
Effectiveness and Efficiency: Streamlined processes delivers better opportunities for 
investment and economic development. 
Capability and Capacity: Building expertise in Aboriginal heritage management enables
preservation and protection of Western Australian Aboriginal heritage.
Aboriginal Heritage Future: Honouring Aboriginal people’s cultural aspirations 
regarding their sites by assisting the implementation of programs for preservation and 
protection, ongoing customary use, authority, education and the fostering of 
knowledge, and independent economic advancement. 

The services related to achieving this balance included: secretariat and policy support
for the ACMC; advice on matters relating to Aboriginal heritage; processing of statutory
approvals; administration of the Register of Places and Objects; research; and heritage
compliance activities.

Priorities of this service in 2016-17 included:
• Aboriginal Heritage reform;
• reassessment of the 35 Aboriginal heritage places affected by the Justice Chaney

Supreme Court decision;
• addressing the backlog of Aboriginal heritage places requiring assessment;
• South West Native Title Settlement;
• repatriation of skeletal remains and objects;
• administration of the Preserving our Aboriginal Sites Grants Program; and
• coordinating statutory approvals processes for the ACMC.
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Services and Strategic objectives
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OUTCOME 2:  Better use of the Aboriginal Lands Trust Estate to achieve 
shared social and economic outcomes

SERVICE: Land Management
We release the potential of land for the utilisation of Aboriginal people to achieve 
their social, economic and cultural aspirations.
Land Tenure Reform: A precursor to investment for Aboriginal people and improves 
amenity, housing outcomes, service delivery and increased commercial opportunities.
Cultural and Economic Value: Stronger engagement better informs decisions on land 
reform which sustains culture.
Government Services: Coordinated expenditure and funding of maintenance improves 
the infrastructure on the ALT estate.
Economic Opportunities: The ALT estate provides significant economic and investment 
opportunities for Aboriginal people, such as pastoral, tourism, conservation, 
commercial development and home ownership.
Management of the Estate: Management of reserves through stronger governance 
enhances decision-making and increases accountability. 

The services related to the management of the ALT estate include: secretariat and
policy support to the ALT Board; advice to the ALT Board, Aboriginal people, the
Minister for Aboriginal Affairs, government and key stakeholders in relation to the
management of the ALT estate, processing land access approvals; operational
management of strategic initiatives in accordance with the ALT strategic plan; and
facilitating the transfer of land to Aboriginal people.

Priorities of this service in 2016-17 include:
• land tenure improvement on the ALT estate;
• remediation of sites on ALT estate;
• infrastructure audit on ALT estate;
• improving partnerships across key land administration, planning, housing and

service delivery agencies; and
• coordinating statutory approvals processes for the ALT.
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OUTCOME 3:  Improving accountability for the delivery of outcomes for 
Aboriginal people from government investments

SERVICE:  Accountable Government 
We improve the accountability for delivering outcomes for Aboriginal people from
government investment.

Aboriginal Engagement: Better engagement with Aboriginal communities and 
organisations improves outcomes. 
Government Coordination: Coordination and collaboration of Aboriginal affairs across 
government.
Performance Accountability: Regular analysis, reporting and data coordination 
improves government accountability and performance. 
Regional Leadership: Strengthening regional leadership of cross portfolio/agency 
priorities delivers greater efficiency and effectiveness in delivery of government 
services. 
Economic Development: Enhancing opportunities for Aboriginal people to more fully 
participate in the State’s economy. 

The services related to improving accountability for the delivery of services to 
Aboriginal people involved secretariat and policy support for the Aboriginal Affairs 
Coordinating Committee, including advice, monitoring and reporting on the delivery of 
outcomes for Aboriginal people from government investments and intergovernmental 
activities.

Priorities of this service in 2016-17 include : 
• Improving government coordination, particularly in regional and remote locations in 

Western Australia; 
• Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating Committee data warehouse; 
• Aboriginal Economic Participation Strategy; 
• Coordinated alcohol management in regional WA; and 
• Indigenous language interpreters cross border trial. 
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OUTCOME 4:  Supporting the Western Australian Aboriginal community to 
independently determine and further their priorities

SERVICE:  Community Development 
We support Aboriginal people to advance their priorities through community-led 
policy, partnerships and programs.

Recognition and Connection: Improving recognition and connection to Aboriginal 
history and culture builds understanding.
Community Ownership: Aboriginal community-led policy, project and program design 
builds greater responsibility for priorities and outcomes. 
Cultural Competency: Improving respect for Aboriginal culture will improve 
relationships to deliver better opportunities and outcomes for Aboriginal people. 
Sustainable Partnerships: Long term community and government partnerships drives 
sustainable change. 
Strengths Based Investment: Building on strengths and capabilities of the Aboriginal

The services related to the delivery of this outcome included: the provision of 
secretariat and policy support for the Western Australian Aboriginal Advisory Council; 
development of partnerships to build the capacity of Aboriginal people to improve 
social outcomes; and reconciliation activities.

Priorities of this service in 2016-17 include : 
• Aboriginal community patrols program; 
• protection, maintenance of and enabling access to Aboriginal family history records 

and Aboriginal history research; 
• Partnership, Acceptance, Learning and Sharing (PALS) schools program; 
• Reconciliation Week Street Banner Project;
• Gnarla Boodja Mili Mili mapping project; and
• Collaborating across government agencies to acknowledge three significant events 

in Aboriginal Affairs, the 50th anniversary of the 1967 Referendum, 25th anniversary 
of the Mabo decision, and the 20th anniversary of the release of the Bringing them 
Home report.
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Our Performance

At 30 June 2017, the Department of Aboriginal Affairs was the lead State Government 
agency in ensuring better outcomes for Aboriginal people.  

The Department’s Outcome Based Management Framework was established and 
approved by the Department of Treasury in February 2012.  The Framework reflects the 
reforms, strategic direction and organisational structure of the Department and 
articulates the Department’s contribution to the Government’s desired outcomes, the 
services to be delivered and the performance targets to be achieved, both financial and 
non-financial, for the budget year. 

For the 2016-17 period, key stakeholders were identified for interview across the 
Heritage, Land, Accountable Government and Community Development directorates.  
Across the Department 203 stakeholders were interviewed from a database of 230 
stakeholders, achieving an 88 per cent participation rate with a maximum error ration of 
+/-1.9 per cent at the 95 per cent confidence level.  The surveys were conducted in May 
and June 2017.

The graph represents overall stakeholder satisfaction with the services delivered in the 
respective measurement periods, and demonstrates continued improvement in 
stakeholder satisfaction achieved in 2016.  A more detailed breakdown is available in the 
Key Performance Indicators Section of this report, on page 89. 

• Performance Summary 
• Financial summary 
• Key performance indicator summary 
• Performance against plan summary 
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Performance Summary 
for 2016-17

2016-17
Budget

$000

2016-17
Actual 
$000

Variance
$000 Link

Total Cost of Services
(ie endorsed expense limit) 33,454 31,932 1,522 Page 103

Net Cost of Services 
(details in the Income Statement) 33,194 31,659 1,535 Page 103

Total Equity 
(details in the Statement of Financial Position) 5,366 7,939 (2,573) Page 104

Net Increase / Decrease in Cash Held  
(details in the Statement of Cash Flows) 731 (1,121) 1,852 Page 105

Full Time Equivalent (FTE) Staff Level 129 126 3

Financial Targets
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2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Budget

2016-17
Actual 

Variance from 
target

Key Effectiveness Indicator

Percentage of direct stakeholders 
satisfied with the services related to 
the management of Aboriginal 
heritage

72% 80% 81% 1% above target

Key Efficiency Indicators

Average processing time per 
statutory approval 

106 days 70 days 79 days 9 days over 
target

Average time to update the register 30 days 12 days 21 days 9 days over 
target

Average time to complete initial 
assessment

7 days 7 days 2.7 days 4.3 days under 
target

Heritage Management:  Achieving the right balance between development and 
protection to ensure economic opportunities are leveraged to the benefit of the whole 
community

Key Performance Indicators

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Budget

2016-17
Actual 

Variance from 
target

Key Effectiveness Indicator

Percentage of direct stakeholders 
satisfied with the services related 
to the management of Aboriginal 
Lands Trust Estate

77% 80% 67% 13% below 
target

Key Efficiency Indicator

Average processing time per land 
transaction

3.5 days 6 days 2.7 days 3.3 days below 
target

Land Management:  Better utilisation of the Aboriginal Lands Trust Estate to achieve 
shared social and economic outcomes
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2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Budget

2016-17
Actual 

Variance from 
target

Key Effectiveness Indicator

Percentage of direct stakeholders 
satisfied with the services related 
to improving accountability for the 
delivery of services to Aboriginal 
people. 

83% 80% 78% 2% below target

Key Efficiency Indicator

Average cost per 1,000 of 
Aboriginal population.

$48,362 $60,371 $50,802 $9,569 below 
target

Accountable Government: Improving accountability for the delivery of outcomes for 
Aboriginal people from government investments 

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Budget

2016-17
Actual 

Variance from 
target

Key Effectiveness Indicator

Percentage of direct stakeholders 
satisfied with the services related 
to community development 
programs for Aboriginal people. 

94% 80% 90% 10% above 
target

Key Efficiency Indicator

Average cost per initiative funded $9,074 $12,030 $7,385 $4,645 below 
target

Community Development:  Supporting the Western Australian Aboriginal community 
to independently determine and further their identified priorities
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Overall the Department has 
delivered on 95 per cent of all 
commitments detailed in 
operational plans, developed in 
June 2016.  

Seventeen (17) activities (or 11 per cent of 
planned activities) were reported as 
significantly exceeding targets (by more than 
20 per cent).  Twelve of these were in the 
Land directorate,  relating to higher than 
planned activity relating to permits, 
remediations, engagements, partnerships 
and inspections.

Five (5) activities  (3 per cent of planned 
activities) did not meet performance targets.  
Four of these activities relate to general 
administrative matters and were unlikely to 
have significant impact on achievement of 
Departmental goals.   

Further detail on performance against plans 
is available in the Report on Operations, from 
page 45 of this report. 

11%

84%

2%

3%

Significantly Exceeded Target

Delivered as Planned

Delivered within  20% of target

Not achieved

PERFORMANCE AGAINST 
OPERATIONAL PLANS
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Our People
• Code of Conduct
• Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes 
• Substantive equality 
• Equity and diversity 
• Performance Management Framework  
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Code of Conduct
The Department’s Code of Conduct (the Code) articulated the conduct and ethical 
behaviour expected of our employees.  A new Code was released and 
communicated to all employees in 2016.  The Code builds on the Public Sector 
Commission’s Commissioner’s Instruction No.7 - Code of Ethics, which provides a 
broad reference point for the standards of behaviour expected from all 
government workers, and is a practical statement of appropriate behaviour and 
culture and a means for the Department to clearly put its values into actions.  

The Code was developed in conjunction with the Public Sector Commissioner’s 
Conduct Guide to fully articulate who the Code applied to, how it was to be 
applied and to reinforce expected standards of behaviour in day-to day duties.

New employees were required to read and acknowledge their understanding of 
the Code as part of the induction process.  The Code was also used as a reference 
document during the delivery of Accountable and Ethical Decision Making 
training. 

39



Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes

In accordance with section 31(1) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994, the 
Department has complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource 
Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and the 
Department’s Code of Conduct during the year. 

Information relating to the Public Sector Standards and ethical codes was available to 
all employees through the Department’s intranet site, with a direct link to the Public 
Sector Commission’s website.  Human Resources related policies and processes were 
reviewed to monitor compliance.

In the 2016-17 period, no breach claims were received against the Public Sector 
Commission’s, Commissioner’s Instruction No.1 – Employment Standard.  Audits were 
completed on all employment selection processes to verify compliance with the 
Employment Standard.

Employees are required to complete Accountable and Ethical Decision Making training 
every five years.  The completion of training  was monitored and as at 30 June 2017, 
98 per cent of applicable employees completed Accountable and Ethical Decision 
Making training.  

The new Code of Conduct was released in 2016 and promoted via a message from the 
Director General to all employees.  All new employees were required to confirm their 
responsibility to read and adhere to the Code of Conduct.  The Code of Conduct  was 
also heavily referenced during Accountable and Ethical Decision Making training.
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Substantive Equality 
In accordance with the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 and the Public Sector 
Commissioner’s Circular 2015-01: Substantive Equality Implementation of the Policy 
Framework (Addressing systematic discrimination in service delivery) the 
Department  was committed to ensuring substantive equality  was reflected 
appropriately in operations, strategies and policies.

The Department was committed to ensuring that Aboriginal Western Australians live 
long, healthy and fulfilling lives; recognised  and valued Aboriginal Land, Heritage 
and Culture; and supported Aboriginal people in their needs and aspirations to share 
equally in the benefits of Western Australian society and economy.

In developing policies and services, the Department was mindful that while some 
policies and practices put in place may appear as non-discriminatory, they actually 
may not be fully responsive to the needs and aspirations of different people and 
groups, and as a result can unintentionally create further inequalities.  The 
Department  is committed to eliminating systematic forms of discrimination in the 
provision of public sector services and promoting awareness of the different needs 
of client groups.

The Department improved the delivery from government investments for Aboriginal 
people via the coordination and collaboration of Aboriginal affairs across 
government.  This was achieved by providing strategic support to the Aboriginal 
Affairs Coordinating Committee (AACC) to ensure a coordinated and culturally 
appropriate whole of government investment approach for services to Aboriginal 
people. The Department was set up to improve its capability to monitor and audit 
quality and impact of investment in services for Aboriginal people through regular 
analysis, reporting and data coordination improves government accountability and 
performance.

The Department continued to undertake ongoing improvements in service delivery 
including interagency workshops and forums with Aboriginal people and groups, 
more personalised services and greater access to Aboriginal family history 
information, and inclusive recruitment procedures.  The Department holds a 
balanced diversity profile, with a strong representation of Aboriginal employees 
within the Department. 
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Equity and Diversity 
The Department acknowledges differences in the workforce and adapts work practices to 
create an inclusive environment in which diverse skills, perspectives and backgrounds are 
valued. It aimed to achieve an equitable and diverse workforce that is representative of 
the community at all levels of employment, and which enabled employees to combine 
work and other responsibilities.

The Department’s performance against diversity targets in the areas of senior 
management, women and Aboriginal employees demonstrates the value placed on equity 
and diversity.  The Department  was well placed to participate in discussions about 
supporting and developing Aboriginal employees and embracing Aboriginal culture in the 
workplace.  

The Department has an excellent representation of Aboriginal employees at 26.8 per cent 
compared to the public sector average of 2.7 per cent, as at 30 June 2017.  The 
Department has explored opportunities to develop Aboriginal employees to be 
competitive for higher level and managerial positions.  

At 30 June 2017, the Department had a strong representation of female employees at 
58.9 per cent of the workforce.  Women hold 50% of Tier 2 positions and 52.6% of Tier 2 
& 3 positions.  The Department’s Women in Leadership team has developed a plan 
focused on building leadership capability and increasing opportunities for women to 
progress to leadership and managerial positions.

Staff development
The Department’s commitment to organisational learning and development was built on 
the recognition that its employees underpin all that the Department does across learning, 
discovery and engagement.  

Professional development and training requirements were identified through the 
performance management and development process, which is called an Employee 
Performance Agreement (EPA).   Employees undertook training courses identified through 
their EPA to build their skills and capability to enhance delivery in their role.  The 
Department also supported development through alternative methods of learning, such 
as coaching, mentoring, on the job training, temporary deployment and secondments,  
including the Jawun Indigenous Corporate Partnership Program.

Employees also completed relevant public sector training:
• Accountable and Ethical Decision Making
• Cultural Awareness
• Occupational Safety and Health for Managers, 
• Safety Representative training 

Training  was recorded, with a focus on monitoring and reporting on compulsory training. 
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Performance development and review
Employees participated in an ongoing performance assessment and development 
process in accordance with departmental policy and consistent with the Public Sector 
Commission’s Performance Management Standard.  

Managers and staff worked together to develop an EPA for the year ahead, providing 
the link between the Department’s strategic and operational plans to individual 
employee performance. The EPA process also led to improved work practices and 
processes through planning and ongoing feedback. Managers and employees were 
jointly responsible for ensuring the process  was implemented. 

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management
The Department recognised the value of its employees and  was committed to 
providing a safe and healthy work environment focused on the prevention of injury 
and illness.  The Department recognised the importance of effective occupational 
safety, health (OSH) and injury management systems and practices and relied on the 
active participation and cooperation of both management and employees to achieve 
this.  

It also recognised the vital role that senior managers’ commitment to effective 
occupational safety, health and injury management processes played in developing a 
strong safety and injury management culture aimed at protecting the health and 
safety of its employees.  It  was committed to raising awareness of safety and health 
obligations and promoting safer work practices in accordance with the Occupational 
Safety and Health Act 1981 and other legislative requirements.

During the year the Department maintained an OSH Committee which consisted of 
safety and health representatives and management representatives and was focused 
on the continuous improvement of occupational safety and health performance.   The 
OSH Committee met bi-monthly to discuss workplace matters that affect the safety, 
health and wellbeing of employees. During the year the OSH Committee discussed 
and resolved issues raised by employees, reviewed policies and procedures, reviewed 
controls and measures to ensure that hazards were addressed to eliminate or reduce 
potential issues, and discussed injury trends and identified preventative measures 
which promote a safe working environment.
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The Department endeavoured to prevent injuries at work occurring through raising 
awareness of safety and health obligations and promoting safe work practices.  In the event 
of a workplace injury, the focus was to work as a team in managing the injury and facilitate a 
safe and early return to meaningful work.  This was done in compliance with the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 and the Workers’ Compensation Code of 
Practice (Injury Management) 2005.  Information on Occupational Safety and Health and 
injury management  was available to all employees on the Department’s intranet site.

The Department’s Employee Assistance Program (EAP) provided a confidential and 
professional counselling service for all employees and their immediate families to help 
resolve personal and work related issues.  Nominated employees were also trained as 
Employee Support Officers to offer employees an additional process for seeking confidential 
support and information.

During the year the Department’s workplace health and safety initiatives included:
• Workstation assessments for all employees.  External occupational therapists were utilised 

for employees with medical conditions and for rehabilitation purposes.
• Flu vaccinations were offered to all employees, with regional employees able to claim a 

rebate.
• Promoting the Department’s EAP provider.  This service was particularly promoted to 

employees through the organisational restructuring and integration into the Department of 
Planning, Lands and Heritage. 

The Department  was a corporate member with two private health insurers to provide 
employees (new and existing) a discount off their health insurance premiums while they were 
employed at the Department.

A summary of the Department’s performance in occupational safety, health and injury 
management is provided.
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Measure Actual
2015-16

Actual
2016-17

Target Comment

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 On target

Lost time injury/disease incident rate 0 2.4 0 Not on target.  During 
2016-17 there were 2.4 
lost time injury claims. 

Lost time injury severity rate 0 0 0 On target

Percentage of injured workers returned to 
work:
(i) within 13 weeks
(ii) within 26 weeks

N/A
N/A

100%
100%

Actual 
percentage 

result

On target
On target

Percentage of managers and supervisors 
trained in occupational safety, health and 
injury management responsibilities

79% 81% 80% Courses are scheduled 
for managers and new 
managers as required.
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Our Operations
• Aboriginal Heritage
• Aboriginal Lands 
• Accountable Government 
• Community Development

The Department of Aboriginal Affairs was the lead State Government agency 
responsible for ensuring better outcomes for Aboriginal people.  

It delivered on this vision through: 
• preserving and protecting Aboriginal sites to deliver optimal social, financial and 

environmental returns for Western Australians; 
• releasing the potential of land for the utilisation of Aboriginal people to achieve their social, 

economic and cultural aspirations; 
• supporting Aboriginal people to advance their priorities, through community-led policy, 

partnerships and programs; and 
• improving accountability for the delivery of outcomes from government investment for 

Aboriginal people. 
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Aboriginal Heritage
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18

30

21

12

2014-15  
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2015-16  
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2016-17  
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2016-17  
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AVERAGE PROCESSING TIME PER 
STATUTORY APPROVAL

AVERAGE TIME TO UPDATE THE 
REGISTER

AVERAGE TIME TO COMPLETE INITIAL 
ASSESSMENT

HIGHLIGHTS

• 17 Noongar Standard Heritage 
Agreement workshops held, with 223 
participants. 

• 25 per cent improvement in 
processing time of Section 18 
applications. 

• 13 Preserving our Aboriginal Heritage 
Grants provided ($495,299) 

• 15 repatriation projects undertaken 
involving 15 separate sets of remains 
and two repatriations of objects were 
completed.
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Aboriginal Cultural Material Committee: 
Left to Right:  Lindsay Dean, Bruce Smith, Vanessa Kickett, Merle Carter, Patrick Churnside, Quinton Tucker
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Aboriginal Heritage

The Department of Aboriginal Affairs  was focused on achieving the right balance 
between protection of Aboriginal heritage and development to ensure economic 
opportunities are leveraged for the benefit of the whole Western Australian 
community.  

The Department contributed to this through research and advice to Aboriginal people, 
Government, community and industry on matters relating to Aboriginal heritage; 
processing statutory approvals; administration of heritage sites register; and other 
heritage protection and compliance activities.  

The Heritage directorate administered the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 (AHA) which 
prescribes specific responsibilities relating to the management and protection of 
heritage sites.  

Key achievements during the year include: 
• Improved performance in processing statutory approvals. 
• Improved compliance processes to further enhance the protection of Aboriginal 

heritage in WA. 
• Growing engagement with Aboriginal people relating to Aboriginal heritage matters 
• Improved decision making transparency and efficiency through improved systems, 

training and support. 
• Continued commitment to repatriation of ancestral remains and sacred objects. 

In 2017-18, the Aboriginal heritage functions will be transferred to the Department of 
Planning, Lands and Heritage. 
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Aboriginal Heritage Performance
Improved performance in processing statutory approvals
Streamlined processes deliver better opportunities for investment and economic 
development.  The Department committed to reducing red tape and streamlining 
processes to improve decision making, transparency and accountability, and provide 
greater certainty and rigour in decision making and advice to stakeholders. 

During the year, the Department implemented continued improvements aimed at 
improving the timeliness of Section 18 application processes, whilst ensuring 
compliance with procedural fairness requirements for Section 18 applications and 
heritage place assessments.  

Where development is proposed on listed or nominated heritage sites, land users must 
complete a Section 18 Notice form accompanied by information as to the intended use 
of the land and Sites on the land and give notice to the ACMC.  Improving approvals 
performance was a high priority for government, acknowledging that a lack of certainty 
and unnecessary time delays have financial implications and reputational repercussions 
for stakeholders.  The Department significantly improved processing time during the 
year, reducing the average processing time per application by 27 days, which is a 25 per 
cent reduction on 2015-16 performance.  (Refer to Key Performance Indicator report 
on page XX) 

Procedural fairness  was an integral part of the process and was undertaken when a 
decision was made or recommended to the ACMC or the Minister.  These 
improvements have resulted in better communication with Aboriginal stakeholders and 
made the decision making process more transparent.  The Department was satisfied 
that the balance between timely processing of applications and adequate and 
appropriate consultation with stakeholders was achieved.   

Improved compliance processes to further enhance the 
protection of Aboriginal heritage in WA
Building expertise in Aboriginal heritage management enables preservation and 
protection of Western Australian Aboriginal heritage. 

During the year, the Department committed to promoting and preserving Aboriginal 
heritage in our community by building stronger partnerships with Traditional Owners 
and Aboriginal custodians.  This was delivered through joint initiatives with Aboriginal 
organisations for the purpose of completing mutually beneficial Aboriginal heritage 
projects funded by the Preserving our Aboriginal Heritage grants program.
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In 2016-17 $495,299 in funding was made available to 14 Aboriginal organisations to 
undertake work associated with preserving Aboriginal sites. 

Internal capability and capacity building within the Aboriginal heritage directorate has 
improved departmental performance in managing and protecting Aboriginal heritage in 
Western Australia.  Improved performance in meeting timeframes in processing 
statutory applications (a 25 per cent improvement in 2016-17) and updating the Register 
of places and objects (a 30 per cent improvement in 2016-17) delivers greater efficiency 
to applicants and stakeholders.  Improved performance in completing assessments 
following receipt of a complaint (61 per cent improvement in 2016-17) demonstrates 
that the Department is becoming more effective in reducing the risk of impact on sites, 
and a more responsive approach to addressing reported matters.  

Growing engagement with Aboriginal people relating to 
Aboriginal heritage matters 
Aboriginal heritage is one of the State’s greatest assets.  Improving accessibility to 
Aboriginal site information preserves this asset for current and future generations.  

During the year, the Department sought to promote and preserve Aboriginal heritage in 
the community through building a stronger regional presence.  It delivered on this 
through a series of Aboriginal heritage forums and workshops held in regional locations 
across the State.  The purpose of these workshops was to consult with stakeholders, and 
to train Prescribed Body Corporates and Aboriginal Organisations to administer their 
own heritage administration and management.  

The Department’s investment in building relationships with the Aboriginal community 
has been highly successful, with an increase in Aboriginal people contacting the 
Department about their heritage and wanting to work with the Department to record 
their important sites. 

Improving the accuracy and quality of heritage information enhances relationships with 
the traditional owners and improved decision making. 

The Department aimed to build trust based relationships and partnerships with 
Aboriginal people and organisations to facilitate better outcomes for heritage protection.  
To deliver on this goal, the Department committed to working towards the South West 
Settlement Native Title Settlement through Noongar Standard Heritage Agreement 
(NSHA) Workshops, and participated in Noongar Working Party meetings.  
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Repatriation of ancestral remains Cowerie Well Munda Station



The Department delivered NSHA workshops to State government departments, local 
governments, industry and Aboriginal advisory bodies.  The workshops have been well 
received, and follow up sessions requested.  In 2016-17, 17 workshops to 223 
participants were delivered. 

Repatriation of ancestral remains and sacred objects 
Since European settlement, ancestral remains and objects of cultural significance to 
Aboriginal people have been collected and/or placed in a variety of institutions in 
Western Australia, elsewhere in Australia and overseas.

The Aboriginal community is keen to see these returned to Country and, in the case of 
ancestral remains, reburied in a culturally appropriate manner.

Since December 2012, the Department has implemented a program to assist local 
Aboriginal communities, the WA Museum and other stakeholders to repatriate ancestral 
remains and objects.   Since the inception of the program, the Department has directly 
co-ordinated or assisted with the repatriation of 106 sets of remains in 51 ceremonies 
around the State.  In that time the Department has also assisted in repatriation on 
objects in the South West, Goldfields, Gascoyne and Kimberly.  

The WA Museum holds 85 sets of ancestral remains, which are a priority for repatriation.  
In this financial year, 15 sets have been repatriated.  The majority of remains that are the 
focus of this project are from those held by the WA Museum.  Additional sets are also 
returned from interstate and overseas or are exposed by natural or human activity. 

The Department has also undertaken to assist the Kimberley Aboriginal Law and Culture 
Centre (KALACC) to progress the repatriation of almost 50 sets of remains they hold on 
behalf of Kimberley communities.

A further 39 additional sets of remains, which lack provenance and will prove difficult to 
repatriate, are held by the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board at the Karrakatta Cemetery in 
Perth (‘the Ossuary’). 

The Department continued to deliver heritage related projects considered of high 
importance to the Aboriginal community, including protection of Aboriginal ancestral 
remains and return on sacred objects. During the year 15 ancestral remain repatriation 
ceremonies involving 15 separate sets of remains and two repatriations of objects were 
completed. 
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Aboriginal Heritage Activities
Preserving our Aboriginal Heritage Grants Program 
The Preserving our Aboriginal Sites Grants Program is an opportunity for Government to 
provide funding for projects that promote and protect Aboriginal heritage sites. Since 
2014, the Department has offered Aboriginal not-for-profit organisations the opportunity 
to apply for grants to preserve and promote Aboriginal sites, as defined in the Aboriginal 
Heritage Act 1972.

To date, the Program has provided funding to projects that have involved removing 
graffiti from sites; creating of reflection, interpretation and recreational facilities near 
sites; general clean-up of sites; and a 3D re-projection of sites so that they can be 
enjoyed by Elders who are no longer able to travel out on Country. 

The Program was widely advertised, and administered by the Department through 
periodic funding rounds that call for applications, assessed against the following criteria: 

• Sustainable long-term heritage benefits.
• Innovation, public benefit and increased awareness of Aboriginal heritage.
• Opportunities and benefits for Aboriginal people and organisations.

One example that demonstrates the value of the Program is the Murujuga Aboriginal 
Corporation (MAC) successful application to purchase a mobile graffiti removal unit for 
use on the Burrup Peninsula. MAC received $23,360.70 in funding to purchase a trailer 
and specialist equipment necessary to remove graffiti. 

The Department provided graffiti removal training to the Murujuga Rangers. The mobile 
graffiti removal unit has since been used to remove long term graffiti that has detracted 
from the visual amenity and spiritual significance of the Burrup Peninsula and has 
allowed MAC to respond quickly and remove any new incidences of graffiti. The Program 
continued to support MAC’s attempts at managing graffiti on the Burrup Peninsula with a 
second grant totalling $2,839 for MAC in 2017, for a specialised hose to allow the 
Murujuga Rangers to remove graffiti located in previously inaccessible areas of the 
Burrup Peninsula. 

In this example the Program has not only provided funding to manage and preserve 
Aboriginal sites of outstanding significance but has also resulted in specialised training to 
the Murujuga Rangers and ongoing support for the ranger program.  
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The Burrup and Murujuga National Park 
The Burrup, also known as Murujuga, is a unique location considered to be the world’s 
largest rock art gallery. It is estimated that as many as one million petroglyphs may be 
located on the Burrup. However, as only a small portion of the peninsula has been subject to 
detailed survey and research, the actual numbers and full extent of diversity of the rock art 
remains unknown.  The Burrup has been the subject of contention due to the co-location of 
heavy industry that has resulted in the destruction or relocation of a significant number of 
engravings. 

The Department holds records for approximately 2,800 Aboriginal heritage places located on 
the Burrup and the nearby islands of the Dampier Archipelago which were once part of the 
mainland. Of these places, approximately 1900 contain engravings and a single engraving 
place may contain many motifs. There are also two protected areas pursuant to section 19 
of the AHA located on the Burrup.

Aboriginal people associated with the Yaburara Mardudhunera, Ngarluma, Yindjibarndi and 
the Wong-Goo-Tt-Oo native title claims have formed the Murujuga Aboriginal Corporation 
(MAC) which has a role in managing parts of the Burrup, as well as being the cultural 
authority for the Burrup and the Dampier Archipelago. 

The granting of title for the non-industrial lands of the Burrup Peninsula to MAC was the 
centrepiece of an historic native title settlement, the Burrup and Maitland Industrial Estates 
Agreement, reached between the Traditional Custodians and the State in January 2003. 

Murujuga National Park (MNP) , gazetted in January 2013 as the State’s 100th National Park, 
extends over approximately 4,900 hectares which equates to 44 per cent of the Burrup’s 
land mass. MNP is freehold land owned by MAC which has been leased back to the State to 
operate as a National Park.
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Pioneer Cemetery, Fitzroy Crossing
In April 2017 five sets of Aboriginal human remains were exposed along the banks of the 
Fitzroy River, near the Pioneer Cemetery following seasonal flooding. A preliminary 
assessment was undertaken by the Department in April 2017 and May 2017.  Available 
burial records indicated that it is highly probable other sets of Aboriginal human remains 
had been washed away over the years as a result of erosion of the banks on which the 
Pioneer Cemetery is located.

The available records indicate that more than 100 sets of Aboriginal remains were located at 
the Pioneer cemetery, all of which are vulnerable as a result of annual flooding of the Fitzroy 
River during the wet season. 

The Department is collaborating with the local Aboriginal community to determine the 
amount and precise location of the Aboriginal human remains buried near the Pioneer 
Cemetery and will include the culturally appropriate exhumation of Aboriginal human 
remains and their reinterment of at the Fitzroy Crossing Cemetery.
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Aboriginal Lands
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AVERAGE PROCESSING TIME PER 
LAND TRANSACTION

HIGHLIGHTS
• ALT estate covers approximately 24 

million hectares of land in Western 
Australia – nearly 10 per cent of the State. 

• 312 parcels of land, including 249 crown 
reserves, 50 freehold, 7 general purpose 
leases, and 7 pastoral leases. 

• ALT estate includes 155 regional and 
remote Aboriginal communities and 28 
town based reserves, with more than 
12,000 inhabitants. 
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Target Result

Transit permits issued 3,000 5,770

Lease applications approved 1 6

Remediation projects on ALT estate 5 19

Stakeholder consultation / engagements 5 25

Infrastructure inspections 3 10

Aboriginal business engaged 3 6

Aboriginal pastoral projects supported 2 6

Submissions to ALT Board 30 105
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Aboriginal Lands Trust Board
Back row: Jamie Elliott, Harold Graham, Dr Robert Isaacs AM, Patrick Green  

Front row: Irene Davey, Preston Thomas, Jacqueline Minney

New infrastructure a boost for Aboriginal cattle business, ALT estate 
East Kimberley Cattle Company, Doon Doon pastoral lease, East Kimberley

Lake Gregory – finalising sublease to Mandora Services and as a result 
$8.5 million over 20 years is to be invested in the cattle business
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Aboriginal Lands Performance

The Department of Aboriginal Affairs was focused on better use of the Aboriginal 
Lands Trust Estate to achieve shared social and economic outcomes.  

The Department contributed to this this through releasing the potential of land for the 
utilisation of Aboriginal people to meet their social, economic and cultural aspirations.  
Outcomes and services relating to Aboriginal Lands were delivered by the Lands 
directorate.  

The Lands directorate administered the Aboriginal Lands Trust and Aboriginal Affairs 
Planning Authority estate under the Aboriginal Planning Authority Act 1972. 

The services to deliver this objective involved the providing advice to the Aboriginal 
Lands Trust, Aboriginal people, Government and other key stakeholders in relation to the 
management of the Aboriginal Lands Trust Estate, processing land access approvals, 
operational management and development of land, management of strategic initiatives 
by the Aboriginal Lands Trust, and facilitating the transfer of land to Aboriginal people. 

In 2017-18, the Aboriginal Lands and Aboriginal Lands Trust Estate management 
functions will be transferred to the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage. 
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Officers working on-the-ground in regional WA to administer and manage 
the ALT estate and to support Aboriginal enterprise 59



Land Tenure Reform
Reforming land tenure is a precursor to investment for Aboriginal people, which improves 
amenity, housing outcomes, service delivery and increased commercial opportunities. 

The Department sought to reform land tenure in accordance with strategic land use 
planning goals and aspirations of native title holders, Aboriginal people and service 
providers through developing a policy framework to support reforms.  In June 2017, the 
Aboriginal Lands Trust (ALT) hosted a Roundtable in Broome, which was attended by the 
Minister for Aboriginal Affairs and senior Aboriginal leaders based in the Kimberley, as an 
initial step towards divestment of the ALT estate in the Kimberley region.  

The Department, on behalf of the ALT, has taken a practical approach to land tenure 
improvement through the issue of leases and land development applications.  During the 
year, the ALT Board approved 12 parcels of land to be divested to the direct control of 
Aboriginal people or organisations, which exceeded performance targets.  

ALT leases and sub-leases were approved for a range of uses including: 
• Services to Aboriginal women; 
• Cultural purposes 
• Business development opportunities; 
• Training for Aboriginal youth
• Housing and accommodation; and 
• Associated infrastructure.  

The Department also committed to creating leases to meet the land requirements for key 
infrastructure projects, including roads, community services and essential services.  Activity 
related to this commitment also exceeded targets, with seven applications approved by the 
ALT Board.
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Clockwise from top left:  Imitji Wilderness Camp, located on the Gibb River Road, 230 km east of Derby;  
Ngaanyatjarra Camel Company, an international success (Image courtesy of the Ngaanyatjara Camel Company);  Colmag

Aboriginal Corporation; ALT lease land to Katampul Aboriginal Corporation in Leonora for future housing development60



Partnerships to Create Cultural and Economic Value
Stronger engagement better informs decisions on land reform, which sustains culture.  
The Department forged partnerships across key land administration, planning, housing 
and service delivery agencies, collaborating with relevant agencies on ten initiatives 
across the State.  Partnerships included:
• collaborating with the Department of Local Government and Communities in relation 

to burials on the ALT estate;
• collaborating with the Pastoral Lands Board and the Department of Lands to facilitate 

the renewal of ALT Pastoral Leases;
• developing the Karriyarra Indigenous Land Use Agreement. This involved collaboration 

with the Departments of the Premier and Cabinet, Lands and the Housing Authority in 
relation to the divestment of ALT Reserves;

• collaborating with the Department of Agriculture and Food WA to advertise an 
expression of interest for sub-leases over Lake Gregory and Billiluna Pastoral Stations;

• partnering with the Housing Authority and Regional Services Reform Unit to organise 
and facilitate the urgent repair, maintenance and demolition of unsafe infrastructure 
at One Mile and Irrungadgi communities.

These projects are key examples of collaborative partnerships across government 
agencies that provide opportunities for economic activity, to improve wellbeing in 
communities, and respect cultural practices in communities.  A full summary of activities 
is provided in the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Annual Report for 2016-17. 
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Located in Balgo, 210 kilometres south of Halls Creek, the Wirrimanu Community Store will provide 
fresh food, white goods and hardware to about 900 residents of Balgo, Mulan and Billiluna. 61



Enabling access through Mining and Transit Permits
Under section 31 of the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972, it is an offence to 
remain on a Part III reserve without a legal permit issued under AAPA regulations. The 
only people exempt from this provision are persons of Aboriginal descent, members of 
either House of Parliament, and/or a person acting in pursuance of a duty imposed by 
law (government officers).  To facilitate access to lands for the purpose of mining related 
activity of other recreational or commercial purposes, the Department administers the 
Mining and Transit Permit Systems. 

Mining Entry Permits authorise the holder of a mining tenement, its employees and sub-
contractors, to enter a proclaimed reserve for the purpose of a mining related activity. 
During the year, 15 Mining Entry Permits were approved by the ALT Board.

Transit (non-mining access) Permits authorise entry for reasons including travel across a 
Reserve, recreational purposes, tourism and commercial activities not related to mining. 
In the 2016-2017 financial year, 5,770 Transit Permits were granted of which 
approximately 70 per cent were issued online with an automated approval function. 

Managing the ALT Estate
Many Aboriginal people are living in high risk, substandard living conditions in regional 
and remote Aboriginal communities, many of which are on the ALT estate.  Funding 
provided for the management of the ALT estate is expended on unavoidable operating 
costs, such as firebreaks at 32 sites, payment of statutory fees and charges (special 
purpose and pastoral lease fees, agricultural protection rates, emergency services levies, 
and Shire rates).

Addressing priority health and safety risks on the ALT estate continued to be a strong 
focus for the Department, however this was limited to extreme and high risk 
infrastructure issues due to budget constraints. During the year, 19 infrastructure repair 
and maintenance projects were undertaken, many of which were on town-based 
reserves where staff worked closely with the respective communities. Where possible, 
local Aboriginal businesses were engaged to undertake the required works. 
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Accountable Government
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OPERATIONAL PLANS

AVERAGE COST PER 1,000 OF 
ABORIGINAL POPULATION

HIGHLIGHTS

• Maintained a high degree of 
situational awareness to respond 
quickly to critical issues and events. 

• Established the Kalgoorlie Boulder 
Aboriginal Community Residents 
Group. 

• Entered into 28 contracts with 
Aboriginal businesses. 

• Produced the final report of the 
Aboriginal Economic Participation 
Strategy 2012-2016. 

• More than 500 businesses registered 
on the Aboriginal Business Directory. 

85
%

83
%

78
%

80
%

2014-15  
A CTUA L 

2015-16  
A CTUA L 

2016-17  
A CTUA L 

2016-17  
TA RGET

$6
5,

12
6 

$4
8,

36
2 

$5
0,

80
2 

$6
0,

37
1 

2014-15  
A CTUA L 

2015-16  
A CTUA L 

2016-17  
A CTUA L 

2016-17  
TA RGET

OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

63



64



Accountable Government

The Department of Aboriginal Affairs is focused on improving accountability for the 
delivery of outcomes for Aboriginal people from government investments.  
The Accountable Government directorate provided strategic oversight and monitoring of 
Government investment to improve outcomes for Aboriginal people in Western 
Australia.   

The Department provided research advice and support for the Aboriginal Affairs 
Coordinating Committee and its sub-committees and monitored and reported on the 
delivery of outcomes for Aboriginal people and intergovernmental activities. 
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Accountable Government 
Performance
Improving government coordination in the regions
During the year, the Department endeavoured to ensure government agencies engaged 
in meaningful consultation, that is mindful of culturally appropriate practices.  To achieve 
this, the Department committed to: 
• developing location based Aboriginal residents and reference groups; 
• establish a community of practice on Aboriginal Affairs for networking, collaboration 

and information sharing across agencies, practitioners and academics; and 
• develop an Aboriginal engagement strategy to guide agencies in better engagement 

with Aboriginal people. 

The Department successfully established the Kalgoorlie-Boulder Aboriginal Community 
Residents Group (KBACRG), a group of Aboriginal people in Kalgoorlie Boulder area, 
committed to addressing key focus areas.  This group provided opportunity for improved 
engagement with government and other service providers in the region, and led to 
linkages with the Regional Services Reform process and the Goldfields District Leadership 
Group. 

The Department continued to work with the Meekatharra Aboriginal Reference Group 
(MARG), providing secretariat support and hosting meetings. The Department has 
supported MARG in the development and upcoming launch of its community driven 
Drug and Alcohol Plan.  Meekatharra will soon be a Low Aromatic Fuel site, a way to 
address access to fuel for inhaling by a group of young people involved in Volatile 
Substance Use.

A Community of Practice was successfully established, and includes regular newsletters 
and cross-agency forums on Aboriginal affairs.  This has resulted in an expanded network 
and improved opportunities for collaboration on matters related to Aboriginal affairs, 
and a greater awareness of key issues and cultural factors impacting government and 
Aboriginal people.  

In 2017-18, the regional coordination functions will be transferred to the Department 
of Communities. 
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Better coordination across government
The Department aimed at improving cohesion across State government agencies and 
active collaboration with the Commonwealth, and delivered this through convening 
regular meetings of the Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating Committee (AACC), with input 
and participation in interagency and multi-jurisdictional forums.  The AACC was attended 
by the Directors General and senior officers from a range of government agencies that 
deliver services or establish policies that impact on Aboriginal affairs.  

During the year, 45 interagency meetings were held, with two crisis responses initiated, 
which involved deploying officers to work intensively across services providers and the 
community.  

Aboriginal affairs networks amongst the States and Territories have been reinvigorated, 
with the first Ministerial Roundtable, initiated and hosted by Western Australia.  This 
forum was initiated to focus on strengthening relationships across jurisdictions, primarily 
for information sharing and learning, and also to promote collaboration and support 
across jurisdictions, aimed at improving outcomes for Aboriginal people.  

A new AACC sub-committee on Aboriginal Arts and Culture was established, with the 
aim of improving outcomes for Aboriginal people through increasing their connection to 
culture.  Mr Duncan Ord, the Director General of the Department of Culture and the Arts 
chairs the sub-committee. 

The Sub-Committee’s terms of reference include:
1. Develop a Cultural Investment Strategy. The development of a trial program in 

geographically targeted areas of high social dysfunction incorporating general 
Aboriginal cultural engagement and new culturally based programs. 

2. Target and coordinate arts and cultural activities linked to outcomes sought in 
health, education, youth justice and Aboriginal employment in areas governed by the 
Regional Services Reform Program. 

3. Investigate with the Department of Treasury the potential to pilot a Social Impact 
Bond program for culturally based activities, aimed at delivering long term cost 
savings to Government as a result of positive outcomes. 

4. Develop a strategic initiative with the Federal Ministry for the Arts to increase 
employment and economic development outcomes in the creative industries in 
which Aboriginal people in Western Australia have a comparative advantage. 
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Improving accountability across government

Regular analysis, reporting and data coordination improves government accountability 
and performance.  The Department aimed to establish more effective and efficient 
mechanisms to assess performance, inform stakeholders and promote government 
accountability, through provision of accurate, timely and relevant information.  

To deliver this, the Department has implemented the Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating 
Committee (AACC) Data Warehouse and improved capability and capacity through 
system and governance arrangements to collect and analyse cross-agency data.  During 
the year, the Department collected data from agencies and augmented reports and 
systems to improve access to Aboriginal specific data.  This included the DAA Quick Stats 
guide and the Community Profiles database.  

During 2016-17, the Department produced the Final Report of the Aboriginal Economic 
Participation Strategy 2012-2016.  This report included the outcomes of the 69 initiatives 
contained in the strategy.  The Strategy was completed in December 2016, and 
reinforced the Government’s commitment to promote Government accountability for 
improved economic outcomes for Aboriginal people and organisations in Western 
Australia. 

In 2017-18, these functions will be transferred to the Department of Premier and
Cabinet.
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Building economic development opportunities
Enhancing opportunities for Aboriginal people to more fully participate in the State’s 
economy, improves outcomes for Aboriginal people and organisations.  The Department 
assists Aboriginal people and businesses by advocating for Aboriginal economic 
participation, undertaking research and modelling, raising awareness of emerging 
opportunities and facilitating and brokering partnerships.  

During the year, the Department committed to raising awareness of the Aboriginal 
Business Directory WA (ABDWA).  At 30 June 2017,  the ABDWA had more than 500 
registered businesses. Funding was successfully obtained to update the ABDWA website 
as well as employ a part time Administrative Support Officer to undertake a range of 
tasks to ensure the continued operation and currency of the ABDWA. 

The Department also committed to raising awareness of State government contracting 
and procurement opportunities.  To deliver this, the Department met with 49 Aboriginal 
businesses and other stakeholders to provide advice and support, and to raise awareness 
of the State and local government contracting and procurement opportunities and 
linkage to the ABDWA.  This support continues with the promotion of their products and 
services to government agencies as well as encouraging Aboriginal businesses to register 
on the ABDWA.

The Department participated in an Aboriginal Procurement Strategies Forum facilitated 
by the Forum for Directors of Indigenous Organisations. The Department also 
collaborated with and participated in Indigenous Business Australia's (IBA) Indigenous 
Procurement Policy workshop for WA Aboriginal businesses who currently or who wish 
to tender for Government work.  

The Department committed to engaging Aboriginal businesses to provide goods and 
services to the Department and on ALT estate.  In 2016-17, the Department entered into 
28 contracts with the Aboriginal businesses expending $256,071. 

In 2017-18, these functions will be transferred to the Department of Premier and
Cabinet.
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Strengthening regional leadership 
Strengthening regional leadership of cross portfolio / agency priorities delivers greater 
efficiency and effectiveness in the delivery of government services.  The Department is 
committed to maintaining a high degree of situational awareness to ensure the 
Department and Minister are aware of critical issues and trends impacting regional 
Western Australia relating to or impacting on Aboriginal people.  

The Department’s regionally based officers have been actively involved in various groups 
and committees to support issues impacting on Aboriginal people and departmental 
business, including identifying key issues and potential strategic responses, and linking 
with other agencies and organisations to support, engage and empower Aboriginal 
people to participate in the development and management of programs that affect 
them.  This includes the Midwest Aboriginal Organisations Alliance, Meekatharra 
Aboriginal Reference Group and the Mount Magnet Yamatji Reference Group.  

A number of critical issues arose during 2016-17 and the intelligence gathered by the 
Department’s regionally based officers as well as the strong relationships that have been 
established in those communities, has ensured timely responses and factual information 
has been available to Government, to enable decision making on responses and ongoing 
delivery of services.  

In 2017-18, the regional coordination functions will be transferred to the Department 
of Communities. 
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Accountable Government Initiatives
Aboriginal Affairs Interagency Data Warehouse
The Department, with cooperation from other State government agencies, established 
the Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating Committee Data Warehouse in 2016.  The data 
warehouse allows analysis of 24 key indicators of wellbeing for both Aboriginal and non-
Aboriginal people by eight sub-geographies across the State. 

Socio-economic indicators are central to the AACC evidence base, but these were 
previously siloed and largely inaccessible.  The data warehouse is shared back to the 
custodian agencies and State Government agencies involved in Aboriginal policy and 
evaluation.  It provides a central repository of information to facilitate informed policy, 
decision-making and service delivery.

While a mature capability has been delivered, the Department continues to explore new 
dynamic data visualisations to remain on the cutting edge of communicating complex 
information clearly, and seeks to promote greater accessibility across Government.  

In 2017-18, this initiative will be transferred to the Department of the Premier and
Cabinet.
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;Artwork by Mr Justin Martin, titled Beeliar Nyoon, which was used for the 
2017 Reconciliation Week Street Banner Project
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Community Development
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• Responded to 580 research related 
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comprehensive family history 
responses, 31 native title research 
requests, and 22 general research 
applications. 

• 920 PALS projects developed in more 
than 600 schools across WA – a 26 per 
cent increase compared to 2015-16. 

• 14 Aboriginal Community Patrols 
services delivered across regional WA 
and Perth metropolitan area. 

• 150 organisations sponsored 360 
banners in the Reconciliation Week 
Street Banner Project – a 10 per cent 
increase compared to 2015-16. 
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2016 PALS Awards winners of the Troy Cook Award, Mater Dei College

Western Australian Aboriginal Advisory Council: 
From back (left to right):  Gordon Gray, Krista McMeeken, Brenda Garstone 
Front (left to right): Phil Matera, Carol Petterson, Ian Trust, Troy Eaton

Storme Bennell and Jhett Caruana learn from Chris Dorrian at an 
archaeological dig at Wardarnji
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Community Development
The Department of Aboriginal Affairs was focused on supporting the Western 
Australian Aboriginal community to independently determine and further their 
identified priorities.

The Department achieved this by working with Aboriginal people to advance their 
priorities through community-led policy, partnerships and programs.  

The Community Development directorate delivered projects and services in supporting 
the ambitions of Aboriginal people and developing awareness of Aboriginal culture and 
history amongst the broader Western Australian community.  

Those services included the provision of access to and interpretation of historical 
information, community programs, and developing partnerships such as cultural and 
historical projects that build the capacity of Aboriginal people to improve social and 
economic outcomes. 

In 2017-18, these functions will be transferred to the Department of Local 
Government, Sport and Cultural Industries and the Department of Communities.
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Muludja Remote Community School was awarded the Aboriginal 
Language and History Award in the 2016 PALS Awards. The students, 
with guidance from the Principal, researched vocabulary associated with 
each Aboriginal season and how changes in the environment affects the 
lifestyles of a traditional hunter/gatherer in the community. 
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Community Development 
Performance
Aboriginal History Research Unit 
The Aboriginal History Research Unit (AHRU) continued to provide an invaluable service 
to Aboriginal people and the broader research community by providing access to 
historical information relating to Aboriginal people. This included providing specialist 
research to applicants, including individuals who may have been affected by past State 
Government policies.  Additionally, the AHRU responded to information requests from 
general researchers, academics and native title researcher applicants. This service is 
governed in accordance with provisions of the State Records Act 2000, Adoption Act 
1994, and Freedom of Information Act 1992.

During the reporting period the AHRU provided 190 comprehensive family history 
responses, 31 native title research requests, and 22 general research applications. The 
unit responded to 580 external and some internal research related enquiries.  

Partnerships Acceptance Learning and Sharing (PALS) Program
The PALS program improves understanding and recognition of Aboriginal history and 
culture and promotes reconciliation. It provides all schools in Western Australia with the 
opportunity to develop projects that foster understanding and awareness of Aboriginal 
people and their culture.  

During 2016-17, the Department continued to administer and support PALS.  This year, 
920 PALS projects were developed in over 600 schools across the state. More than half 
of all Western Australian schools are now participating in a PALS reconciliation activity. 
Projects include the production of Aboriginal art murals, bush tucker gardens, societal 
harmony, as well as opportunities to engage direct with Aboriginal language speakers 
and Aboriginal Elders.  Information about the winners and finalists for 2016 are available 
on the Department’s website. 

The uptake by schools to register for PALS, included public, private and independent 
schools from across Western Australia, ranging from South Perth to Kununurra.  The 
program provided school students with a deeper understanding of Aboriginal culture and 
created engaging ways for students to learn and appreciate the culture and language of 
Australia’s first people.  

In 2017-18, these functions will be transferred to the Department of Local 
Government, Sport and Cultural Industries. 
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Community Patrols Program 
Aboriginal Community Patrols Program provides on the ground assistance to Aboriginal 
people in Western Australia. The Patrols assist Aboriginal people in public spaces who 
are alcohol or drug affected or otherwise "at risk" of harm by transporting them to a safe 
place, which improves their personal safety and wellbeing. 

The Patrols seek to minimise an individual’s level of contact with police and criminal 
justice system. Patrols link up with local support services such as sobering-up shelters, 
health centres and other community organisations.

The Department administers the Patrols through service agreements with 12 
community-based organisations that operate 14 Patrol services across regional Western 
Australia and the Perth metropolitan area.  Funding for the Patrols program is $6 million 
per annum, with funding secured to 30 June 2018.

The patrols service is well regarded by stakeholders such as the local shires, Western 
Australian police, other government agencies and members of the community. During 
the year, 12 non-profit Aboriginal organisations across the state employed approximately 
69 people mostly of Aboriginal descent, to provide 40,000 hours of operational service, 
interacting with approximately 150,000 clients.

In 2017-18, this Program will be transferred to the Department of Communities. 

National Reconciliation Week Street Banner Project 
Long term community and government partnerships drive sustainable change and this is 
exemplified by  the Department’s commitment to its Reconciliation Week Banner Project 
(Street Banner Project), which promotes reconciliation through banners sponsored by 
government and non-government organisations, communities and business. 

To celebrate National Reconciliation Week, the Department coordinated the Street 
Banner Project. This year the project expanded to Elizabeth Quay and four regional 
locations (Bunbury, Greater Geraldton, Kalgoorlie-Boulder and Broome) in addition to 
the Cities of Armadale, Bassendean Cockburn, Gosnells, Perth, South Perth, Subiaco, 
Swan, Victoria Park and Vincent. In 2016-17, 150 organisations from public, private and 
community sectors joined together to sponsor a total of 360 banners, achieving a 10 per 
cent increase from the previous year.
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This key reconciliation project shares a positive message during National Reconciliation 
Week and provides the opportunity for organisations to recognise the significant place of 
Aboriginal people within our communities. The Department encourages all corporate, 
government and non-government organisations and small businesses to sponsor a 
reconciliation banner each year.

The 2017 Street Banner Project launch was held on 25 May 2017.

In 2017-18, these functions will be transferred to the Department of Local 
Government, Sport and Cultural Industries. 
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Community Development Projects
No Less Worthy Publication
The No Less Worthy publication will expand on ‘They Served with Honour: Untold Stories 
of 13 Western Australian Servicemen Who Served at Gallipoli’ book, which was released 
in 2015 to commemorate the 100th anniversary of ANZAC.  The follow-up book will 
document the stories of all known Western Australian Aboriginal enlistees who 
endeavoured to serve during World War I. 

The addition of over 65 enlistees will add to the number currently registered at the 
Australian War Memorial and National Archives of Australia indexes and other 
commemoration lists, such as the Returned Service League. 

The book will be a tribute to the enlistees’ contribution to Aboriginal involvement in war, 
at a local, state and national level, adding significantly to our understanding and history 
of this topic.

Barrba Wadbirra - Journey Together NAIDOC 2017 Project 
To celebrate NAIDOC Week 2017, the Department and the WA Police collaborated on a 
joint project to promote the diversity of Western Australian Aboriginal culture and art,  
and to increase meaningful engagement between police and Aboriginal communities. 
Seven Aboriginal artists from different regions throughout Western Australia were 
engaged to feature their artwork designs on Police uniforms, which were worn by more 
than 2,100 Police Officers across the state. Seven police vehicles were also wrapped in 
the artwork designs. 

The project promoted reconciliation and an increased understanding and respect for 
Aboriginal culture and stories. It created economic outcomes for seven emerging artists 
in support for  their professional practice and career development. Direct outcomes from 
the exposure of the project for the artists have been commissioned artworks, public art 
projects, other organisations ‘wrapping’ vehicles, and an international outcome - a 
Commonwealth cross-cultural program residency in Vietnam. Most of all the project 
created a visible step in improving relationships between WA Police and Aboriginal 
communities and is the largest roll-out of its kind across Australia. 

The project has been widely acknowledged as an outstanding success, and the 
Queensland government has since wrapped Police vehicles in Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander art to combat overrepresentation of youths in the justice system and promote 
reconciliation.
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Right Wrongs 
The Department’s Aboriginal History Research Unit collaborated with the Western 
Australian Museum, State Library of Western Australia, Australian Broadcasting 
Corporation and National Archives of Australia on a Western Australian historical project 
Right Wrongs to acknowledge three significant anniversaries during 2017: 
• the 50th anniversary of 1967 Referendum;
• the 25th anniversary of Mabo Decision; and
• the 20th anniversary of Bringing Them Home Report.

The Department produced a 160 page Information Toolkit Right Wrongs for the 
collaboration. Its key message was to educate the wider community of the legacy of the 
Referendum and the significance of the events from a Western Australian perspective. 

The Toolkit comprehensively detailed the historical events, provided analysis of the WA 
Referendum results and included interviews and reflections from the Aboriginal 
community. A copy of the resource has been published online and hard copies will be 
provided to all WA schools. It was the  largest State project to commemorate the ‘67 
Referendum.
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Gnarla Boodja Mili Mili Mapping Project 
The Department is undertaking the research and production of a map Gnarla Boodja Mili
Mili (Our Country on Paper) acknowledging the existence of places of Aboriginal 
historical and cultural significance in the greater metropolitan area including burial sites 
and camping locations.  

All places identified have been intensively researched and entered into a comprehensive 
database to validate the accuracy of the location of the places that have been identified.

The Gnarla Boodja Mili Mili Project involved archival and desktop research to establish 
these locations.  Currently 377 places have been identified as well as 46 campsites and 
21 burial sites, which significantly adds to the material currently publicly available.

Aboriginal Homestead Farms 1899-1926
A project to acknowledge the existence of ‘Homestead leases’ taken up by Aboriginal 
people between 1899 and 1926 was completed during the reporting period. 

The work involved archival research, Geographic Information System mapping, and visits 
to offsite storage at Landgate analyse historical applications. 

These documents were used to produce a map showing the location of the farms and a 
booklet providing details of the application. These previously unidentified initiatives 
importantly demonstrate that Aboriginal people were keen to achieve economic 
independence along with the wider community at the time.

In 2017-18, these activities will be transferred to the Department of Local Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries. 
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Disclosures and Legal 
Compliance
• Financial Statements 
• Key Performance Indicators 
• Other financial disclosures 

• Pricing Policies 
• Capital Works 
• Employment and Industrial Relations 
• Unauthorised use of credit cards 
• Board and Committee Remuneration

• Ministerial Directives 
• Disclosure of contracts by senior officers 
• Workers Compensation  
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

85



OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

86



OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

87



OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

88



OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

Key Performance Indicators

CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are 
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of Aboriginal 
Affairs’ performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of 
Aboriginal Affairs for the financial year ended 30 June 2017. 

Maurice Hanrahan
Reporting Officer

Date:  August 2017
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Key Performance Indicators
Effectiveness Indicators 

To report on the Department of Aboriginal Affairs’ (Department) effectiveness indicators, a 
survey is conducted on an annual basis, using an independent, external research provider to 
ensure objectivity, as well as relevance and validity of the survey process.  Survey responses 
are sought from direct stakeholders, including other government agencies, key stakeholder 
committees and key community organisations.  

Advantage Communications – Research were engaged by the Department to undertake the 
2016-17 Annual Performance Measurement Survey, utilising a Computer Assisted 
Telephone Interview methodology for the third consecutive year.  Stakeholders are 
identified as those individuals or organisations that have had substantial interactions with 
the Department and its services during the reporting period.  This, coupled with individuals 
who have opted out or have been uncontactable prior to the survey commencement, 
results in fluctuations in the number of stakeholders approached from year to year. 

For 2016-17 survey, key stakeholders were identified for interview across the Heritage, 
Land, Accountable Government and Community Development directorates. Across the 
Department, 203 stakeholders were interviewed from a database of 230 stakeholders, 
achieving an 88 per cent participation rate with an overall maximum error ratio of +/- 1.9 
per cent at the 95 per cent confidence level. The surveys were conducted in May and 
June 2017. 

The 2017-18 financial year targets across the service areas will be determined following the 
completion of the Machinery of Government processes.  

Heritage Land Accountable
Government

Community
Development DAA Total

2012-13 Actual 81% 63% 66% 89% 75%
2013-14  Actual 90% 59% 58% 87% 74%
2014-15 Actual 84% 63% 85% 81% 78%
2015-16 Actual 72% 77% 83% 94% 81%
2016-17 Actual 81% 67% 78% 90% 79%
2016-17 Budget 80% 80% 80% 80% 80%
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Stakeholder Satisfaction Survey Results
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Heritage Management
Outcome 1:  Achieving the right balance between development and protection of 
Aboriginal heritage to ensure economic opportunities are leveraged to the benefit of the 
whole community. 

Percentage of direct stakeholders satisfied with the services related to the management 
of Aboriginal heritage.
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2016-17  
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Variance
 1% above 2016-17 Target

 9% increase on 2015-16 Actual

Conducting a survey of stakeholders to determine the Department’s effectiveness in 
achieving the right balance between: 
• Development, which leads to the delivery of economic benefits for all Western 

Australians; and 
• Protection of Aboriginal heritage, which will ensure that it is preserved for the future 

enjoyment of both Aboriginal people and the wider community. 

The services related to achieving this balance include support for the Aboriginal Cultural 
Material Committee; advice on matters relating to Aboriginal heritage; processing of 
statutory approvals; administration of the heritage sites register; and research and heritage 
compliance activities. 

A total of 54 respondents from a database of 61 stakeholders participated in the survey, 
yielding an 89 per cent participation rate that provides a confidence level of 95 per cent with 
a maximum error ratio of +/- 3.6 per cent. The survey sample comprised 37 per cent from 
government agencies, 24 per cent from Aboriginal organisations, 9 per cent from 
community/not for profit organisations and 30 per cent from commercial. 

The overall stakeholder satisfaction level of 81 per cent represents a 9 per cent improvement 
on the 2015-16 actual and 1 per cent positive variance on the increased target.  
The improvement to stakeholder satisfaction relates to an increased presence on the ground, 
engagement with Aboriginal stakeholders and response times to matters relating to 
Aboriginal heritage across the state.
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Land Management
Outcome 2:  Better utilisation of the Aboriginal Lands Trust estate to achieve shared social 
and economic outcomes

Percentage of direct stakeholders satisfied with the services related to the management 
of the Aboriginal Lands Trust Estate.

The services related to the management of the ALT estate includes the provision of 
secretariat and policy support to the ALT; provision of advice to the ALT, Aboriginal people, 
the Minister for Aboriginal Affairs, government and key stakeholders in relation to the 
management of ALT, processing of land access approvals, assisting with the operational 
management of strategic initiatives in accordance with the ALT strategic plan, and 
facilitating the transfer of land to Aboriginal people.  

A total of 43 respondents from a database of 47 stakeholders participated in the survey, 
yielding a 91 per cent participation rate that provides a confidence level of 95 per cent with 
a maximum error ratio of +/ 4.1 per cent. The survey sample comprised 40 per cent from 
government agencies, 37 per cent from Aboriginal organisations, 7 per cent from not for 
profit/community and 16 per cent from commercial.  

The overall satisfaction level of 67 per cent represents a 10 per cent decline on the 2015-
16 result, and furthermore, a 13 per cent negative variance on the increased target.  

During the year, the Department focused on increased stakeholder engagement, especially 
with Aboriginal groups in regional and remote areas, in relation to land tenure reform, 
leasing, economic development opportunities and the remediation of priority health and 
safety risks on the Aboriginal Lands Trust estate. Despite the decrease in the overall 
satisfaction with the outcome, stakeholders are less dissatisfied, with 18 per cent reporting 
dissatisfaction with the services, compared to 19 per cent in 2015-16. The number of 
respondents recording a neutral response increased by 10 per cent compared to 2015-16. 
Stakeholders recorded increased satisfaction with service delivery related to management 
of the ALT estate and consistent performance against customer service measures.

Variance
 13% below 2016-17 Target

 10% decrease on 2015-16 Actual
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Accountable Government
Outcome 3:  Improving accountability for the delivery of outcomes for Aboriginal people 
from government investments.

Percentage of direct stakeholders satisfied with the services related to improving 
accountability for the delivery of services to Aboriginal people. 

Conducting a survey of stakeholders to determine the Department’s effectiveness in 
improving accountability for the delivery of outcomes from government investment 
was primarily based upon the activities and actions associated with the Aboriginal 
Affairs Coordinating Committee (AACC) and the Department’s ability to monitor and 
audit the quality and impact of investments in services to Aboriginal people. 

The services related to improving accountability for the delivery of services to 
Aboriginal people involves the provision of secretariat and policy support for the AACC, 
including advice, monitoring and reporting on the delivery of outcomes for Aboriginal 
people from government investments and intergovernmental activities. 

A total of 59 respondents from a database of 68 stakeholders participated in the 
survey, yielding an 87 per cent participation rate that provides a confidence level of 95 
per cent with a maximum error ratio of +/ 3.9 per cent. The survey sample comprised 
75 per cent from government agencies, 11 per cent from Aboriginal organisations, 12 
per cent from community/not for profit organisations and 2 per cent from commercial.

The overall satisfaction level of 78 per cent represents a 5 per cent decline on the 
2015-16 actual result and a 2 per cent negative variance on the increased target.

The performance result was impacted by Caretaker Conventions prior and State 
government elections, during which time the AACC was unable to meet. This negatively 
impacted opportunities for stakeholder engagement and cross-agency collaboration.
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Variance
 2% below 2016-17 Target

 5% decrease on 2015-16 Actual
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Community Development
Outcome 4:  Supporting the Western Australian Aboriginal community to independently 
determine and further their priorities. 

Percentage of direct stakeholders satisfied with the services related to community 
development programs for Aboriginal people. 

Conducting a survey of stakeholders to determine the Department’s effectiveness in 
supporting the Aboriginal community to independently determine and further its 
priorities through enhancing partnerships that build the capacity of Aboriginal people 
to improve social outcomes. 

The services include the provision of secretariat and policy support for the Western 
Australian Aboriginal Advisory Committee; developing partnerships that build capacity 
of Aboriginal people to improve social outcomes; and reconciliation activities.

A total of 49 respondents from a database of 56 stakeholders participated in the 
survey, yielding an 88 per cent participation rate that provides a confidence level of 95 
per cent with a maximum error ratio of +/ 3.0 per cent. The survey sample comprised 
43 per cent from government agencies, 14 per cent from Aboriginal organisations, 22.5 
per cent from community/not for profit organisations and 20.5 per cent from 
commercial.

The overall satisfaction level of 90 per cent represents a 4 per cent decline on the 
2015-16 actual, however, it is still a 10 per cent positive variance on the increased 
target of 80 per cent.

Whilst there was a 4 per cent decrease in stakeholder satisfaction, the target was still 
exceeded by 10 per cent. The small decline on the 2016-17 actual is related primarily to 
a lower customer service rating provided by the respondents.
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Variance
 10% above 2016-17 Target
 4% decrease on 2015-16 Actual
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Efficiency Indicators 
The following indicators of efficiency relate to the services: 

2012-13
Actual

2013-14 
Actual

2014-15 
Actual

2015-16 
Actual

2016-17 
Actual

2016-17 
Target Variance

Average processing time per statutory approval
65 days 69 days 74 days 106 days 79 days 70 days  9 days above 2016-17 Target

 27 days better than 2015-16 
Actual

Average time to update register 
21 days 12 days 18 days 30 days 21 days 12 days  9 days above 2016-17 Target

 9 days better than 2015-16 
Actual

Average time to complete initial assessment

3 days 3 days 4.2 days 7 days 2.7 days 7 days  4.3 days under 2016-17 Target
 4.3 days better than 2015-16 

Actual
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AVERAGE PROCESSING T IME PER STATUTORY APPROVAL

Heritage Management
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AVERAGE T IME TO UPDATE THE REGISTER
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The Department is responsible for administering the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 and 
within this responsibility includes the processing of statutory approvals.  Improving 
approvals performance is a high priority of the government, acknowledging that a lack of 
certainty and unnecessary time delays have financial implications and reputational 
repercussions for stakeholders. Accordingly, the Department considers managing statutory 
approvals as a key measure of efficiency in delivery of Aboriginal heritage services. 

By benchmarking and reporting average time taken to achieve statutory approvals relating to 
heritage management, improvements with regard to timeliness of heritage approvals are 
reported on an annual basis.

The average processing time per statutory approval decreased from 106 days to 79 days in 
2016-17. This an improvement of 27 days on the 2015-16 actual, albeit, 9 days over the 
target. The result excludes the statutory approvals that were deferred, EPA constrained or 
awaiting sign-off, deferred, EPA constrained or awaiting sign-off, primarily due to Caretaker 
Conventions and the State Government elections. 

Still, the improved result reflects the addition of skilled staff, new structures, and
enhancements to internal systems and processes.

The average time to update the register improved from 30 days to 21 days in 2016-17, albeit 
it still being 9 days above the target. This result is attributed to a minor change in process.

The average time to complete the initial assessment improved from 7 days to 2.7 days in 
2016-17, which is 4.3 days below the target. This result is attributed to the addition of a staff 
member in the Compliance team and a more responsive approach to matters being 
reported.
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AVERAGE T IME TO COMPLETE IN IT IAL  ASSESSMENT
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2012-13
Actual

2013-14
Actual

2014-15 
Actual

2015-16 
Actual

2016-17 
Actual

2016-17 
Target Variance

Average processing time per land transaction

9 days 8.7 days 4.3 days 3.5 days
2.7 days 6 days

 3.3 days under than 2016-17 
Target

 0.8 days better than 2015-16 
Actual
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AVERAGE PROCESSING T IME PER LAND TRANSACTION

This indicator seeks to measure the Department’s efficiency against the services related to the 
management of the ALT estate. By benchmarking and reporting of the average time taken to 
achieve land transactions relating to land management, improvements with regard to 
timeliness of process reported on an annual basis. This indicator will help to identify 
improvements and achievements in terms of the following outcomes sought: 
• timely divestment of land to Aboriginal people;
• effective management of estate land and associated assets; and 
• better integration with development processes.

The average processing time per land transaction improved from 3.5 days to 2.7 days
in 2016-17, which is 3.3 days below the target. The 2016-17 result is attributed to both the
high volume of simple transactions and improvements to the on-line transit permit system.

Land Management
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2012-13 
Actual

2013-14 
Actual 

2014-15 
Actual

2015-16 
Actual

2016-17 
Actual

2016-17 
Target Variance

Average cost per 1,000 Aboriginal population
$221,690 $142,070 $65,126 $48,362 $50,802 $60,371  $9,569 less than 2016-17 Target

 $2,440 more than 2015-16 Actual
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AVERAGE COST PER 1 ,000  OF ABORIGINAL POPULATION

This indicator seeks to measure the Department’s efficiency against the services provided in 
relation to the accountability of government. The measure is calculated by applying the cost 
incurred by the Department in delivering these services to the Western Australian Aboriginal 
population (per 1,000).  By benchmarking and reporting average cost per 1,000 of the 
Aboriginal population relating to accountable government activities.

Results against this measure will help to identify improvements and achievements in terms 
of the results sought of improving  accountability for the delivery of outcomes for Aboriginal 
people from government investments through activities relating to the AACC, and other 
intergovernmental activities such as the implementation of national partnership 
agreements. 

The average cost per 1,000 population increased by $2,440 in 2016-17, equating to $9,569 
less than the 2016-17 target. The result is attributed to an acceptable variation noting that 
the cost of services was well within target. During the year the methodology for calculating 
the total cost of services was changed, which has had a minor impact on the result. This was 
based on updated ABS census population projections.

Accountable Government
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2012-13 
Actual

2013-14 
Actual

2014-15 
Actual

2015-16 
Actual

2016-17 
Actual

2016-17 
Target Variance

Average cost per initiative funded
$16,807 $24,091 $14,855 $9,074 $7,385 $12,030  $4,645 less than 2016-17 

Target
 $1,689 less than 2015-16 

Actual
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AVERAGE COST PER COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT IN IT IAT IVE 
FUNDED

This indicator measures the Department’s efficiency against the services provided in relation 
to supporting the Aboriginal Community to independently determine and further its 
priorities. 

By benchmarking and reporting the average cost per community development initiative 
funded by the Department, improvements with regard to the level of efficiency in resource 
use will be reported on an annual basis. This indicator will help identify improvements and 
achievements in terms of the outcomes sought for Aboriginal people determining and 
furthering their identified priorities.

The average cost per initiative funded decreased by $1,689 in 2016-17 compared to the 
2015-16 actual, which was a result of the increase in the number of initiatives funded by the 
Department. The 2016-17 actual against budget is 39 per cent lower, which is attributed to 
the significant increase in school reconciliation projects, from the anticipated 420 projects to 
922 projects.

Community Development
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DEPARTMENT OF ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS
Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2017
Note 2017 2016

$000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 16,500 17,696
Supplies and services 8 9,996 9,658
Depreciation and amortisation expense 9 916 670
Accommodation expenses 10 2,702 3,246
Grants and subsidies 11 1,611 928
Other expenses 12 207 181
Total cost of services 31,932 32,379

Income

Revenue
Other revenue 14 273 376
Total Revenue 273 376

Total income other than income from State Government 273 376

NET COST OF SERVICES 31,659 32,003

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 15 32,782 31,713
Services received free of charge 15 621 741
Royalties for Regions Fund 15 56 52

Total income from State Government 33,459 32,506

SURPLUS /(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 1,800 503

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 26 - -

Total other comprehensive income - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1,800 503

See also the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'. 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS
Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2017

Note 2017 2016
$000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 27 4,946 6,114
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16 377 377
Receivables 17 409 346
Amounts receivable for services 18 591 543
Other current assets 19 2,297 1,035
Total Current Assets 8,620 8,415

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 18 471 414
Plant and equipment 20 762 764
Intangible Assets 21 1,944 2,426
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16 47 -
Total Non-Current Assets 3,224 3,604

TOTAL ASSETS 11,844 12,019

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 23 269 417
Provisions 24 2,841 3,391
Other current liabilities 25 82 1,239
Total Current Liabilities 3,192 5,047

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 24 713 833
Total Non-Current Liabilities 713 833

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,905 5,880

NET ASSETS 7,939 6,139

EQUITY
Contributed equity 26 1,411 1,411
Reserves 26 252 252
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 26 6,276 4,476
TOTAL EQUITY 7,939 6,139

See also the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'.
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 2017 2016
$000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 32,134 31,102
Capital contributions - 150
Holding account drawdown 543 598
Royalties for Regions Fund 56 52

Net cash provided by State Government 32,733 31,902

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (18,002) (18,036)
Supplies and services (11,333) (9,952)
Accommodation (2,220) (2,674)
Grants and subsidies (1,841) (806)
GST payments on purchases (1,446) (1,492)
GST payments to taxation authority (28) (42)
Other payments (293) (160)

Receipts
GST receipts on sales 15 45
GST receipts from taxation authority 1,303 1,463
Other receipts 424 1,028

Net cash used in operating activities 27 (33,421) (30,626)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets (433) (1,248)
Net cash used in investing activities (433) (1,248)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,121) 28

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 6,491 6,463

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 27 5,370 6,491

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note
Contributed 

equity Reserves

Accumulated 
surplus / 
(deficit) Total equity

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2015 26 1,261 252 3,973 5,486

Surplus/(deficit) - - 503 503
Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the period - - 503 503

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations 150 - - 150

Total 150 - - 150

Balance at 30 June 2015 1,411 252 4,476 6,139

Balance at 1 July 2016 1,411 252 4,476 6,139

Surplus/(deficit) - - 1,800 1,800
Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the period - - 1,800 1,800

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations - - - -

Total - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2017 1,411 252 6,276 7,939

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS
Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service

For the year ended 30 June 2017

Heritage 
Management

Land 
Management

Accountable 
Government

Community 
Development Total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 5,772 5,960 2,886 3,401 2,617 2,582 5,225 5,753 16,500 17,696
Supplies and services 3,497 3,253 1,748 1,856 1,585 1,409 3,166 3,140 9,996 9,658
Depreciation and amortisation expense 320 226 160 129 145 98 291 217 916 670
Accommodation expenses 945 1,093 473 624 429 474 855 1,055 2,702 3,246
Grants and subsidies 564 313 282 178 256 135 509 302 1,611 928
Other expenses 72 61 36 35 33 26 66 59 207 181
Total cost of services 11,170 10,906 5,585 6,223 5,065 4,724 10,112 10,526 31,932 32,379

Income
Other revenue 95 127 48 72 43 55 87 122 273 376
Total income other than income from 
State Government 95 127 48 72 43 55 87 122 273 376

NET COST OF SERVICES 11,075 10,779 5,537 6,151 5,022 4,669 10,025 10,404 31,659 32,003

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 11,467 10,681 5,734 6,095 5,199 4,627 10,382 10,310 32,782 31,713
Services received free of charge 217 250 109 142 98 108 197 241 621 741
Royalties for Regions Fund 20 18 10 10 9 8 17 16 56 52
Total income from State Government 11,704 10,949 5,853 6,247 5,306 4,743 10,596 10,567 33,459 32,506
Surplus/(deficit) for the period 629 170 316 96 284 74 571 163 1,800 503

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS
Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service

As at 30 June 2017

Heritage 
Management

Land 
Management

Accountable 
Government

Community 
Development Total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets 3,015 2,834 527 545 84 80 4,994 4,956 8,620 8,415
Non Current Assets 1,128 1,214 197 233 31 34 1,868 2,123 3,224 3,604
Total assets 4,143 4,048 724 778 115 114 6,862 7,079 11,844 12,019

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 1,117 1,700 195 327 31 48 1,849 2,972 3,192 5,047
Non-current liabilities 249 281 44 54 7 8 413 490 713 833

Total liabilities 1,366 1,981 239 381 38 56 2,262 3,462 3,905 5,880

NET ASSETS 2,777 2,067 485 397 77 58 4,600 3,617 7,939 6,139

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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DEPARTMENT OF ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS
Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates

For the year ended 30 June 2017

2017 2017 Variance 2017 2016 Variance
Estimate Actual Actual Actual

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 33 Net amount provided to deliver services 32,906 32,512 (394) 32,512 31,450 1,062
Section 25 Transfer of service appropriation - - - - 705 (705)
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 270 270 - 270 263 7

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 33,176 32,782 (394) 32,782 32,418 364

CAPITAL
Item 123 Capital appropriations - - - - 150 (150)

GRAND TOTAL 33,176 32,782 (394) 32,782 32,568 214

Details of Expenses by Service
Heritage Management 11,612 11,170 (442) 11,170 10,906 264
Land Management 5,806 5,585 (221) 5,585 6,223 (638)
Accountable Government 5,264 5,065 (199) 5,065 4,724 341
Community Development 10,512 10,112 (400) 10,112 10,526 (414)
Total Cost of Services 33,194 31,932 (1,262) 31,932 32,379 (447)

Less Total Income (260) (273) (13) (273) (376) 103
Net Cost of Services 32,934 31,659 (1,275) 31,659 32,003 (344)
Adjustments (a) 242 1,123 881 1,123 415 708
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 33,176 32,782 (394) 32,782 32,418 364

Capital Expenditure

Purchase of non-current physical assets 543 (433) (976) (433) (1,248) 815
Adjustments for other funding sources (543) 433 976 433 1,398 (965)
Capital Contribution (appropriation) - - - - 150 (150)

(a) Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and 
superannuation.

Note 32 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 
2017 and between the actual results for 2017 and 2016.
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DEPARTMENT OF ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

1 Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 have been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of any other Australian
Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the annual reporting period
ended 30 June 2017.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement

The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB
as applied by the Treasurer's instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer's instructions to vary application,
disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of
financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for
land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value.
The financial statements assumes a going concern basis as the net assets will transfer to a new Department (Department of
Planning Lands and Heritage) effective 1 July 2017, that will continue to provide services to the public. Refer note 31: "Events
occurring after the end of the reporting period" for more information.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all
periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the
process of applying the Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the
financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.

110



OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity comprises of the Department only.

Mission

The Department's mission is to manage Aboriginal heritage and land held in trust for future generations and to ensure outcomes
for Aboriginal people through community development and government investments.

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriation.

Services

The Department provides the following services:

Service 1: Heritage Management
To provide support to achieve the right balance between the development and protection to ensure economic opportunities are
leveraged to the benefit of the whole community.

Service 2: Land Management
To better utilise the Aboriginal Lands Trust Estate to achieve shared social and economic benefits.

Service 3: Accountable Government
To provide support to improve accountability for the delivery of outcomes for Aboriginal people from government investments.

Service 4: Community Development
The provision of support to the Western Australian Aboriginal Community to independently determine and further their identified
priorities.

(d) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature
of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government
(the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made
to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity.

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.
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(e) Income

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised
for the major business activities as follows:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service 
appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of
the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to
the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control
of the Department. In accordance with the most recent determination, as quantified in the 2016-2017 Budget
Statements, the Department retained $0.273 million in 2017 ($0.376 million in 2016) from the following:

- other Departmental revenue; and
- GST input credits

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions,
usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions
of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not
donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Department obtains
control over the funds. The Department obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the
Department's bank account.

Gains
Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-
current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
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(f) Plant and equipment

Capitalisation / expensing of assets
Items of plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed
(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of plant and equipment and works of art costing less than $5,000 are immediately
expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which
are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of works of art and the cost
model for all other plant and equipment. Works of art are carried at fair value. All other items of plant and equipment are
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The Department revalues its works of art every 3 years by a specialist in the valuation of Aboriginal art. The valuation
determined at this time is the fair value of the works of art. Any additional purchases between revaluations are recognised at
purchase cost.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of plant and equipment or works of art, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset
is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets on a
class of assets basis.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner
that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for
each class of depreciable asset are:

Plant and equipment (excluding Leasehold Improvements) - 8 to10 years
Leasehold Improvements - Over the remaining term of lease
Office Equipment - 3 to 5 years
Software (a) - 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles - 3 to 8 years

(a) Software that is integral to the operation of any related hardware.

Works of art controlled by the Department are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are anticipated to have
indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and
consequently no depreciation has been recognised.
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(g) Intangible Assets

Capitalisation / expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or
more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred
below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair
value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated
useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have
a finite useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Licences - up to 10 years
Development Costs - 3 to 5 years
Software(a) - 3 to 5 years
Website costs - 3 to 5 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any 
related hardware.

Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.

Development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward
when the future economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to
exceed $50,000. Other development costs are expensed as incurred.

Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as plant and equipment. Software that is not an
integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is
expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs
Website costs are expensed when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset
when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase
of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or
enhancing a website that can be reliably measured, are capitalised to the extent that they represent probable future
economic benefits.
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(h) Impairment of Assets
Plant and equipment are tested for any indication of impairment at each reporting period. Where there is an indication of
impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the
asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.
Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation
decrement in other comprehensive income. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has
been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and
depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated,
where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets
is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or
expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the
present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no
risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is
determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable
amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting
period.

(i) Leases
The Department holds operating leases for head office and a number of branch office buildings. Lease payments are
expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased
properties.

(j) Financial Instruments
In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instruments:
- Receivables; and
- Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents.
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Other current liabilities
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Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction
cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent)
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l) Accrued salaries

Accrued salaries [refer to note 23 ‘Payables’] represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial
year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period end. The Department considers the carrying
amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account [refer to note 16 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’] consists of amounts
paid annually, from Departmental appropriations for salaries expense, into a suspense account to meet the additional
cash outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest
is received on this account.

(m) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset
(holding account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding
requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.

(n) Receivables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e.
impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as
uncollectible are written off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is
raised when there is objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount
is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

(o) Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a
result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled
within 30 days.
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(p) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Provisions - employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period.

Annual leave 
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is
therefore considered to be ‘other long term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of
employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is
recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of
employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-
conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the
Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the
requisite years of service.

Purchased Leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-
fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for
employees and is measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for
membership in particular schemes for public sector employees varies according to commencement and
implementation dates.
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Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members 
since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new 
members since 1995. 

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme 
or the GSS became non contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS).  Employees 
commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  From 
30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their 
preferred superannuation fund.  The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other fund providers 
on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Department's liability for 
superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, 
it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) 
made by the Department to GESB extinguishes the Department’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension 
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension 
Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by 
the Department to the GESB. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the 
Treasurer for the employer’s share.

(ii) Provisions - other

Employment On-Costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-
costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits 
expense’.  The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.  

(q) Superannuation expense

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer contributions paid to the 
GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation funds. The employer contribution paid to the 
GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB. 

(r) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Department would otherwise purchase if not donated, 
are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured.  A corresponding 
expense is recognised for services received.  Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State 
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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(s) Comparative Figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current 
financial year.

(t) Support Provided to AAPA / Aboriginal Lands Trust

Decision making responsibility in respect of the Aboriginal land estate effectively resides with the Aboriginal Lands 
Trust (ALT), a body established under the auspices of the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972.

When the Aboriginal Affairs Department (now titled the Department of Aboriginal Affairs) was established on 1 
November 1994, it effectively took over the operations of its originating agencies, including the Aboriginal Affairs 
Planning Authority (AAPA).  Staff previously employed by the AAPA at that time were transferred to the AAD.  As a 
consequence, administrative support for the AAPA and the ALT was provided by staff employed by the AAD.  See Note 
28 'Services provided free of charge'.

3 Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  The Department evaluates 
these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitment
The Department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office accommodation.  Some of these leases 
relate to buildings of a temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership.  Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

Leasehold improvements
The Department capitalises leasehold improvements where significant economic benefit is obtained.

4 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
reporting period.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Department’s long service leave provision include expected 
future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments.  Changes in these estimations 
and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
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5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective, or adopted,  for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016  that impacted on the Department:

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards

This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation), grouped where 
they are the same. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 
and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Department as depreciation and amortisation 
is not determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic 
benefits.

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting 
Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. The Department 
has determined that the  application of the Standard has no financial impact.

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 
7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 
101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the concerns 
expressed about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use 
judgement when applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in their financial 
statements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public sector 
entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public 
sector entities. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 & 128

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments to AASB 10 & 128 
that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to be applied for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016. There is no financial 
impact.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, the 
Department has early adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-
Profit Public Sector Entities.  Where applicable, the Department plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from 
their application date.

Title Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended 
by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9, and, AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards.  The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

01-January-2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers      
This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply to report useful 
information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer.

The Department's income is principally derived from appropriations which will be measured under 
AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and will be unaffected by this change. However, the 
Department has not yet determined the potential impact of the Standard on 'User charges and 
fees' and 'Sales' revenues. In broad terms, it is anticipated that the terms and conditions attached 
to these revenues will defer revenue recognition until the Department has discharged its 
performance obligations. 

01-January-2019

AASB 16 Leases
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise 
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying 
asset is of low value.   

Whilst the impact of AASB 16 has not yet been quantified, the entity currently has operating lease 
commitments for $380,000.  The Department anticipates most of this amount will be brought onto 
the statement of financial position, excepting amounts pertinent to short-term or low-value leases. 
Interest and amortisation expense will increase and rental expense will decrease.

01-January-2019

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-
profit (NFP) entities, more closely reflecting the economic reality of NFP entity transactions that 
are not contracts with customers. Timing of income recognition is dependent on whether such a 
transaction gives rise to a liability, a performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or 
service), or, an obligation to acquire an asset. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

01-January-2019
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AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) 
[AASB  1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.   

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and 
AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Department has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of the Standard.

01-January-2018

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to 
other Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the Department to determine the application 
or potential impact of the Standard.

01-January-2018

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory 
application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 2018. The 
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

01-January-2018

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). 
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

01-January-2018

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is required to be applied for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017.  For Not-for-Profit 
entities, the mandatory effective date has subsequently been amended to 1 January 2019 by 
AASB 2016-7. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of AASB 15.

01-January-2019

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 107

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require 
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash 
changes. There is no financial impact.

01-January-2017
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AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent
considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, provides
further transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Department has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact.

01-January-2018

AASB 2016-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recoverable Amount of Non-Cash-
Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities

This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-generating 
assets of not-for-profit entities, which are typically specialised in nature and held for 
continuing use of their service capacity, is expected to be materially the same as fair 
value determined under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact.

01-January-2017

AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit 
Entities

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 and 
defers the consequential amendments that were originally set out in AASB 2014-5 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 for not-for-profit 
entities to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, instead of 1 
January 2018. There is no financial impact.

01-January-2017

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance 
for Not-for-Profit Entities

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative implementation guidance 
for not-for-profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance assists not-for-profit 
entities in applying those Standards to particular transactions and other events. There is 
no financial impact.

01-January-2019

AASB 2017-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Further Annual Improvements 2014-
2016 Cycle

This Standard clarifies the scope of AASB 12 by specifying that the disclosure 
requirements apply to an entity’s interests in other entities that are classified as held for 
sale, held for distribution to owners in their capacity as owners or discontinued operations 
in accordance with AASB 5. There is no financial impact.

01-January-2017

Changes in accounting estimates

There were no changes in accounting estimates that have an effect in the current period or are expected to have an effect in 
future periods.
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6 Employee benefits expense
2017 2016
$000 $000

Wages and Salaries (a) 15,151 16,293
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 1,349 1,403

16,500 17,696

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including
superannuation contribution component.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs, such as workers' compensation insurance, are included at note 12 'Other expenses'.
The employment on-costs liability is included at note 24 'Provisions'.

7 Compensation of Key Management Personnel

The Department has determined that key management personnel include Ministers and senior officers of the Department.
However, the Department is not obligated to compensate Ministers and therefore disclosures in relation to Ministers’
compensation may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

Total compensation for senior officers of the Department for the reporting period are presented within the following bands:
Compensation Band 
($)

$ $ 2017 2016
320,000 to 330,000 - 1 
280,000 to 290,000 2 -
260,000 to 270,000 1 -
230,001 to 240,000 - 2 
220,001 to 230,000 2 1 
210,000 To 220,000 - 3 
190,000 to 200,000 1 1 
140,001 to 150,000 1 -
120,000 to 130,000 1 -
100,000 to 110,000 - 1 

70,001 to 80,000 1 -
0 to 70,000 1 -

$000 $000
Short-term employee benefits 1,440 1,640
Post-employment benefits 151 160
Other long-term benefits 145 170
Termination benefits 156 -
Total compensation of senior officers 1,892 1,970

Short-term employee benefits include salary, district allowances, motor vehicle benefits, housing and utilities expenses incurred by
the Department in respect of senior officers.
Post-employment benefits include superannuation entitlements.
Other long-term benefits include annual leave and long service leave entitlements.
No senior officers are members of the pension scheme.

124



OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

8 Supplies and services
2017 2016
$000 $000

Communications 397 338
Services and contracts 2,668 2,780
Service Purchased from Non Government Agencies 5,968 5,784
Consumables 266 156
Operating leases 153 235
Repairs and maintenance 2 1
Travel 484 343
Other 58 21

9,996 9,658

Details of the Services Purchased from Non-Government Agencies are listed below:
2017 2016
$000 $000

Bloodwood Tree Association Inc. 400 311
Emu Services 310 598
Garl Garl Walbu Aboriginal Corporation 350 310
Geraldton Yamatji Patrol Aboriginal Corporation 400 445
Jungarni Jutiya Indigenous Corporation 310 281
Kununurra Waringarri Aboriginal Corporation 425 404
Mamabulanjin Aboriginal Corp 400 390
MEEDAC Incorporated 1,078 1,187
Ngnowar Aerwah Aboriginal Corporation                                                               400 404
Nyoongar Patrol System Inc. 1,285 918
Yaandina Family Centre 280 149
Yulella Aboriginal Corporation 330 387

5,968 5,784
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9 Depreciation and amortisation expense
2017 2016
$000 $000

Depreciation
Plant and equipment 22 18
IT equipment 223 142
Total depreciation 245 160

Amortisation
Computer software 671 510
Total amortisation 671 510
Total depreciation and amortisation 916 670

See also  Note 2(f) Plant & Equipment

10 Accommodation expenses
2017 2016
$000 $000

Lease rentals 2,617 3,063
Repairs and maintenance 2 1
Electricity and water 44 148
Other 39 34

2,702 3,246

11 Grants and subsidies
2017 2016
$000 $000

Recurrent
Grants to non-government agencies 1,293 928
Transfers/contributions to other state government agencies 318 -

1,611 928

12 Other expenses 
2017 2016
$000 $000

Doubtful debts expense - -
Building Maintenance - 8
Employment on-costs (a) 162 123
Other (b) 45 50

207 181

(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs such as staff amenities, staff training etc.
The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 24
''Provisions'. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are
not included in employment on-costs.

(b) Audit fee, see also note 34 'Remuneration of auditor'.
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13 Related Party Transactions

The Department is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia. In conducting its activities, the 
Department is required to pay various taxes and levies  based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and 
levy payers to the State and entities related to State.

Related parties of the Department include:
• all Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
• other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole of government consolidated 

financial statements;
• associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements; and
• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Significant transactions with government related entities include transactions $50,000 or greater:
• grant funding was received from Department of Premier and Cabinet ($55K) as part of Local Projects Local Jobs 

Program (note 14);
• Department of Aboriginal Affairs (DAA) and Department of Culture and the Arts partnered on culture-centred initiatives 

($618K) (note 8 and 11);
• DAA provided resources free of charge to the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority ($2.036M, note 28); and
• resources were received free of charge from State Solicitor's Office ($139K) and Department of Finance ($482K) 

(note15).

Material transactions with related parties:
• superannuation paid to GESB ($394K).

All other transactions (including general citizen type transactions) between the Department and Ministers / senior officers or 
their close family members or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities are not material for disclosure.

14 Other revenue
2017 2016
$000 $000

Contributions from State Government agencies - 33
Other contributions

Contributions for special projects 55 -
Miscellaneous Revenue 218 196

Revenues from non-operating activities
Government Vehicle Scheme - 46
Staff housing contributions - 101

273 376
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15 Income from State Government
2017 2016
$000 $000

Appropriations received during the period :
Service appropriations (a) 32,782 31,713

32,782 31,713
Services received free of charge from other State government agencies during 
the financial period (b)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:

State Solicitor's Office - legal advice 139 169
Department of Finance - Property Management Services 482 572

621 741

33,403 32,454
Royalties for Regions Fund:

Regional Community Services Fund (c) 56 52
56 52

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and 
a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and 
any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

(b) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the Department recognises revenue 
equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and 
which would have been purchased if they were not donated.  Where the contributions of assets or services are in the 
nature of contributions by owners, the Department makes an adjustment direct to equity.

(c) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. This relates to funds received from the 
Department of Regional Development for the regional workers incentives initiative.

16 Restricted cash and cash equivalents
2017 2016
$000 $000

Current
Remote Indigenous Housing West Kimberley Tripartite Forum (a) 150 150
Kalumburu Roads (b) 227 227
Total Current 377 377

Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account (c) 47 -
Total Non-Current 47 -

Balance at end of period 424 377

(a) Funding to support the Kimberley Land Council and its nominated organisations to attend meetings of the West
Kimberley Tripartite Forum and its working groups.

(b) Funding to support remedial works to flood damaged roads at Kalumburu Community.
(c) Amount held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year which occurs once in

11 years, next is 2026-2027.
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17 Receivables
2017 2016
$000 $000

Current
Receivables 57 150
GST receivable 352 196

409 346

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables.
Balance at start of period - 5
Amounts written off during the period - (5)
Balance at end of period - -

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

See also note 2(n) 'Receivables' and note 33 'Financial Instruments'.

18 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
2017 2016
$000 $000

Current 591 543
Non-current 471 414

1,062 957

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. See note 2(m) 'Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding
Account)'. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

19 Other assets
2017 2016
$000 $000

Current
Prepayments 2,297 1,035

2,297 1,035

129



OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

20 Plant and equipment
2017 2016
$000 $000

Vehicles 
At cost - 53
Accumulated depreciation - (53)

Total Vehicles - -

Plant and equipment 
At cost 168 168
Accumulated depreciation (101) (78)

Total plant and equipment 67 90

Information technology equipment 
At cost 1,238 994
Accumulated depreciation (777) (554)

Total Information technology equipment 461 440

2017 2016
$000 $000

Works of art (a)
At fair value 234 234

Total Works of art 234 234

Total Plant and Equipment 762 764

(a) Works of art were revalued in accordance with a valuation which was undertaken by an independent contractor, Seva
Fangos Art, on the basis of current replacement value, as at 30 June 2015. See note 2(f) 'Plant and Equipment'.
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting 
period are set out in the table below:

Works of 
Art

Vehicles Plant & 
equipment

Information 
technology 
equipment

Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2017

Carrying amount at start of period 235 - 90 439 764
Additions - - - 244 244
Depreciation - - (23) (223) (246)
Carrying amount at end of period 235 - 67 460 762

Works of 
Art

Vehicles Plant & 
equipment

Information 
technology 
equipment

Total

$000 $000 $000 $000
2016
Carrying amount at start of period 235 - 16 277 528
Additions - - 92 304 396
Revaluation increments - - - - -
Depreciation - - (18) (142) (160)
Carrying amount at end of period 235 - 90 439 764
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21 Intangible assets
2017 2016
$000 $000

Computer Software
At cost 3,481 3,292
Accumulated depreciation (1,537) (866)

Total Computer Software 1,944 2,426

1,944 2,426
Reconciliations
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period 2,426 2,084
Additions 189 852
Amortisation expense (671) (510)
Carrying amount at end of period 1,944 2,426

Work in progress
Carrying amount at start of period - -
Additions - 698
Capitalisation - (698)
Carrying amount at end of period - -

22 Impairments of assets

There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment at 30 June 2017.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of
the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2017 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off.

23 Payables
2017 2016
$000 $000

Current
Trade payables 217 326
Accrued Expenses - 91
Accrued Salaries 52 -
Total Current 269 417

See also note 2(o) 'Payables' and note 33 'Financial Instruments'.

132



OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

24 Provisions
2017 2016
$000 $000

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a) 952 1,237
Long service leave (b) 1,458 1,770
Purchased leave (c ) 103 (17)

2,513 2,990

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d) 328 401

328 401

Total current provisions 2,841 3,391

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b) 644 752

644 752

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d) 69 81

69 81

Total non current provisions 713 833

Total provisions 3,554 4,224

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is 

expected to occur as follows:
2017 2016
$000 $000

Within 12 months of reporting period 752 1,135
More than 12 months after end of the reporting period 200 102

952 1,237

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the 

liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 
2017 2016
$000 $000

Within 12 months of reporting period 1,458 1,770
More than 12 months after end of the reporting period 644 752

2,102 2,522
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(c) Purchased leave has been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period.  All purchased leave must be settled by 31st December each year or it is 
automatically paid out.

2017 2016
$000 $000

Within 12 months of reporting period 103 (17)
103 (17)

(d) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers’ compensation insurance.  The provision is the present value of expected future payments.  

The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 12 ‘Other 
expenses’.

Movements in Other Provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the period, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

2017 2016
$000 $000

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 483 461
Additional provisions recognised (87) 22
Carrying amount at end of period 396 483

25 Other liabilities
2017 2016
$000 $000

Current
Unclaimed monies - 4
Fringe benefits tax 33 45
Other 49 1,190
Total current 82 1,239
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26 Equity

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. Equity 
represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of 
equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed Equity
2017 2016
$000 $000

Balance at start of period 1,411 1,261

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation (a) - 150

Total contributions by owners 1,411 1,411

Balance at end of period 1,411 1,411

(a) Under TI 955 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities, capital appropriations have been
designated as contributions by owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities.

Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus 2017 2016

$000 $000

Balance at the start of period 252 252
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Works of art - -
Balance at the end of period 252 252

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

Balance at the start of period 4,476 3,973
Result for the period 1,800 503
Balance at the end of period 6,276 4,476
Total Equity at end of period 7,939 6,139
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27 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2017 2016
$000 $000

Cash and cash equivalents 4,946 6,114
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see also note 16) 424 377

5,370 6,491

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services (31,659) (32,003)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 9 ‘Depreciation and amortisation expense’) 916 670
Doubtful debts expense (note 12 ‘Other expenses’) - -

Services received free of charge 621 741

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a) 93 (58)
Other current assets (1,262) (671)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (a) (148) (168)
Current provisions (550) 135

Other current liabilities (1,157) 820

Non-current provisions (120) (66)
Net GST receipts (b) (155) (26)
Change in GST receivables/payables ( c) - -

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (33,421) (30,626)

At the end of the reporting period, the Department had fully drawn on all financing facilities, details of which are disclosed in
the financial statements.

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable / payable in respect of GST and the receivable / payable in 
respect of the sale / purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the 
reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST received, i.e. cash transactions.
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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28 Services provided free of charge
2017 2016
$000 $000

During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions 
outside the normal operations of the Department.

Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority 2,036 1,938
See also note 2(t) Support provided to AAPA / Aboriginal Lands Trust.

29 Commitments

Lease commitments (a) (b) 2017 2016
$000 $000

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 2,086 254
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 5,516 343
Later than 5 years 6 -

7,608 597

Representing:
Non-cancellable operating leases 7,608 597

7,608 597

(a) The property leases are non-cancellable leases for periods up to 5 years with rent payable monthly in advance.  
Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreements require that the lease payments shall be increased by the CPI 
or other criteria such as independent valuations or fixed percentages.  Options may exist to renew the leases at the end 
of the lease term.

(b) Motor vehicle leases are non-cancellable leases over a fixed period and/or targeted number of kilometres.

Expenditure Commitments
2017 2016
$000 $000

The Department has contracted commitments for its grants program via service/grant agreements at 
the end of the reporting period that are not recognised as liabilities and are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 1,080 -
1,080 -
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30 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

The Department had no contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at 30 June 2017.

31 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
This is the final set of accounts for the Department of Aboriginal Affairs (DAA).  Under Machinery of Government changes, the
Department of Aboriginal Affairs was abolished as at 1 July 2017.  Its functions are being transferred to Department of Planning, 
Lands and Heritage, Department of Communities, Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries, and 
Department of Premier and Cabinet.

Most of DAA’s assets, liabilities and employees were amalgamated together with the assets, liabilities and employees of the 
Department of Planning, the Department of Lands and the State Heritage Office into a new Department referred to as the 
Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage.

No information has become apparent since the end of the reporting period which materially affects the financial statements.
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32 Explanatory statement

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2017, and between the actual results for 2017 and 
2016 are shown below. Narratives are provided for selected major variances, which are generally greater than:
• 5% and $0.648 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and
• 5% and $0.204 million for the Statement of Financial Position.

Variance 
Note

Estimate
2017

Actual 2017 Actual 
2016

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and
actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2017
and 2016

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

Expenses
Employee benefits 
expense

1 A 18,951 16,500 17,696 (2,451) (1,196)

Supplies and services 1, 2 8,933 9,996 9,658 1,063 338
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense

648 916 670 268 246

Accommodation expenses 3,404 2,702 3,246 (702) (544)
Grants and subsidies 3 B 944 1,611 928 667 683
Other expenses 574 207 181 (367) 26
Total cost of services 33,454 31,932 32,379 (1,522) (447)

Income
Revenue
Other 
revenue

260 273 376 13 (103)

Total Revenue 260 273 376 13 (103)

NET COST OF SERVICES 33,194 31,659 32,003 (1,535) (344)

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 33,176 32,782 31,713 (394) 1,069
Services received free of charge 635 621 741 (14) (120)
Royalties for Regions Fund 66 56 52 (10) 4
Total income from State Government 33,877 33,459 32,506 (418) 953
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 683 1,800 503 1,117 1,297
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Statement of Financial Position
Estimate

2017
Actual 
2017

Actual 
2016

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and
actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2017
and 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 C 4,548 4,946 6,114 398 (1,168)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 377 377 377 - -
Receivables 255 409 346 154 63
Amounts receivable for services 591 591 543 - 48
Other current assets 5 D 368 2,297 1,035 1,929 1,262
Total Current Assets 6,139 8,620 8,415 2,481 205

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 115 47 - (68) 47
Amounts receivable for services 503 471 414 (32) 57
Plant and equipment 581 762 764 181 (2)
Intangible Assets 6 E 2,627 1,944 2,426 (683) (482)
Other non-current assets 7 235 - - (235) -
Total Non-Current Assets 4,061 3,224 3,604 (837) (380)

TOTAL ASSETS 10,200 11,844 12,019 1,644 (175)

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 8 36 269 417 233 (148)
Provisions 9 F 3,129 2,841 3,391 (288) (550)
Other current liabilities 10 G 770 82 (688) (1,157)
Total Current Liabilities 3,935 3,192 5,047 (743) (1,855)

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 899 713 833 (186) (120)
Total Non-Current Liabilities 899 713 833 -186 (120)
TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,834 3,905 5,880 (929) (1,975)

NET ASSETS 5,366 7,939 6,139 2,573 1,800

EQUITY
Contributed equity 1,411 1,411 1,411 - -
Reserves 252 252 252 - -
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 11 H 3,703 6,276 4,476 2,573 1,800
TOTAL EQUITY 5,366 7,939 6,139 2,573 1,800
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Statement of Cash Flow
Estimate

2017
Actual 
2017

Actual 
2016

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and
actual

Variance 
between 

actual 
results 

for 2017
and 2016

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations 32,528 32,134 31,102 (394) 1,032
Capital contributions - - 150 - (150)
Holding account drawdown 543 543 598 - (55)
Non-retained revenue distributed to owner - - - - -
Royalties for Regions Fund 66 56 52 (10) 4
Net cash provided by State Government 33,137 32,733 31,902 (404) 831

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits 1 (18,899) (18,002) (18,036) 897 34
Supplies and services 2 I (8,879) (11,333) (9,952) (2,454) (1,381)
Accommodation (2,835) (2,220) (2,674) 615 454
Grants and subsidies 3 B (944) (1,841) (806) (897) (1,035)
Other payments (1,880) (1,767) (1,694) 113 (73)

Receipts
GST receipts from taxation authority 1,314 1,318 1,508 4 (190)
Other receipts 260 424 1,028 164 (604)
Net cash used in operating activities (31,863) (33,421) (30,626) (1,558) (2,795)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets (543) (433) (1,248) 110 815
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets - - - - -
Net cash used in investing activities (543) (433) (1,248) 110 815

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 731 (1,121) 28 (1,852) (1,149)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 4,309 6,491 6,463 2,182 28

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 5,040 5,370 6,491 330 (1,121)
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Major Estimate and Actual (2017) Variances Narratives

1 The marked decrease in actual employee benefits against estimates is due to the phased implementation of cost savings 
measures identified in the agency expenditure review.  Also a factor in the variance is cross-alignment of employee benefits 
and supply and services cost elements in the budget.

2 Non-alignment of costs elements in the budget between employee expenses and supplies and services contributed to the 
variance.

3 Grants and subsidies increased as a result of demand for heritage grants to protect sites or create heritage awareness 
opportunities.  The expanded reach of the PALS program, more participating schools added to the increase.

4 Lower actual expenses than estimates flowed through to the cash balances as a positive variance.
5 Increase in current assets from estimates is mainly due to prepayments.  In order to comply with its contractual obligations,

the Department prepaid $1.5 million in June for payments that were due in 1 July 2017.
6 Intangible assets' variance against estimates is due to lower amounts of capital projects during the year and higher 

accumulated amortisation stemming from previous years' capitalised projects.
7 Other non-current assets under estimates refers to works of art at fair value.  However, works of  art is categorised under 

plant and equipment in the actual figure for 2017 as shown in Note 20, giving rise to the variance.
8 Payables' higher actual figure than estimate is due to grants accrual and various invoices received as at end of period but 

not within processing timeframes.  They were registered as trade payables as normal business practice.
9 Variance in provisions is due to decrease in leave balances in 2017 resulting from the phased implementation of cost saving 

measures including reduction of staff leave balances.
10 The variance in other current liabilities resulted from lower accrual of grants in 2017.
11 The variance in accumulated surplus between 2017 estimates and actual is the change from estimated surplus of $0.683 

million to $1.8 million actual.

Major Actual (2017) and Comparative (2016) Variance Narratives

A Lower 2017 actuals than 2016 is attributable to measures that were partly implemented to achieve cost savings targets 
identified in the agency expenditure review.

B Grants and subsidies were increased to further the goals of the Department through more and higher value heritage grants 
and expanded reach of the PALS program to include more participating schools.

C Net under spending in actuals resulted in higher cash balance than previous year.
D Pre-payment of Patrols Program for a quarter rather than a month contributed to the variance between actual years.
E Intangible assets variance against previous year is due to lower amounts of capital projects in 2017 and higher accumulated 

amortisation stemming from previous years' capitalised projects.
F Decrease in provisions is due to the of implementation of savings strategies including reduction of staff leave balances.
G Previous year's actual was higher due to the accrual of staffing costs of $0.957 million.
H Higher surplus in 2017 than 2016 contributed to the variance in accumulated surplus.
I Higher cash out flow for actual supplies and services in 2017 than 2016 is mainly due to the prepayment of Patrols program 

for three months in 2017 instead of one month in 2016.
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33 Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial 

Financial Instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and payables.  All of the Department's cash is held in the public bank account (non-interest bearing) 
including restricted cash.  The Department has limited exposure to financial risks.  The Department's overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is a possibility of the Department's receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Department.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment, as shown in the table at 
Note 33(c) 'Financial instruments disclosures' and note 17 'Receivables'.

Credit risk associated with the Department's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amount 
receivable for services (holding account).  For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with 
recognised, creditworthy third parties.  The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and 
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the Department's exposure to bad debts is minimal.  At the end of the reporting 
period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

The Department monitors receivables on a monthly basis and follows up any that are past due.  Debtors are contacted 
to determine the reason for non-payment via phone and by follow up letters.  In instances where this proves 
unsuccessful and the amount outstanding is considered material, the debt is referred to a debt collector after 
consideration of the nature of the debt and any impact this would have on our client base.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Department is 
exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by 
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Department's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The Department does not trade in foreign 
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks.  Other than as detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity 
analysis table at Note 33(c), the Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because apart from minor amounts of 
restricted cash, all other cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and have no 
borrowings.
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(b) Categories of financial instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2017 2016
$000 $000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,946 6,114
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 424 377
Receivables (a) 57 150

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Payables 269 417
Other current liabilities 82 1,239

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(c) Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk 
The following table detail the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets.  
The Department's maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial 
assets as shown below.  The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and 
impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Department.

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it 
holds.

Aged analysis of financial assets 
Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount 

Not past 
due and 

not 
impaired

Up to 1 
month

1 - 3 
months

3 
months 

to 
1 year

1 - 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Impaired 
financial 

assets 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Financial Assets

2017
Cash assets 4,946 4,946 - - - - - -
Restricted cash assets 424 424 - - - - - -
Receivables (a) 57 57 - - - - - -

5,427 5,427 - - - - - -

2016
Cash assets 6,114 6,114 - - - - - -
Restricted cash assets 377 377 - - - - - -
Receivables (a) 150 150 148 2 - - - -

6,641 6,641 148 2 - - - -
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) (statutory receivable)
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Department's interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets
and financial liabilities.  The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows.  The interest rate exposure 
section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate 
exposure

Maturity Dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate

Carrying 
Amount

Non 
interest 
bearing 

Nominal 
Amount 

Up to 1 
month

1 - 3 
months

3 months 
to 

1 year

More 
than 1 

year 

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2017
Financial Assets
Cash assets - 4,946 4,946 4,946 4,946 - - -
Restricted cash assets - 424 424 424 424 - - -
Receivables (a) - 57 57 57 57 - - -

5,427 5,427 5,427 5,427 - - -

Financial Liabilities
Payables - 269 269 269 269 - - -
Other current liabilities 82 82 82 82

351 351 351 351 - - -

2016
Financial Assets
Cash assets - 6,114 6,114 6,114 6,114 - - -
Restricted cash assets - 377 377 377 377 - - -
Receivables (a) - 150 150 150 150 - - -

6,641 6,641 6,641 6,641 - - -

Financial Liabilities
Payables 417 417 417 417
Other current liabilities - 1,239 1,239 1,239 1,239 - - -

1,656 1,656 1,656 1,656 - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)

The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis
The Department does not have any items which are subject to interest rate fluctuations. 

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair
value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the
applicable notes.
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34 Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current reporting period is as follows:

2017 2016
$000 $000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements, controls, and, key performance indicators 41 41
41 41

The expense is included at note 12 'Other expenses'.

35 Affiliated bodies
During the course of the year the Department provided funding to various Government and non-government agencies. Of
the non-government organisations, it may have occurred during the financial year, that some of them would be defined as
affiliated bodies under the terms of Treasurer's Instruction 951. Due to regulations imposed on grant recipients, financial
acquittals are by the provision of a financial statement detailing expenditure of that particular grant only. The statement
provided does not always disclose other income sources, and therefore the Department is not in a position to accurately
determine which of the grant recipients are classified as an affiliated body.

36 Supplementary financial information
Write-offs

During the reporting period nil (2016: nil) was written off the Department’s asset register under the authority of:
2017 2016
$000 $000

The Accountable Authority - -
The Minister - -
Executive Council - -

- -

Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
2017 2016
$000 $000

Losses of public money and public and other property through theft or default - -
Amounts recovered - -

- -

Gifts of Public Property
2017 2016
$000 $000

Gifts of public property provided by the Department - -
- -
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Staffing levels 2017 2016

Full time permanent 108 108
Full time contract 8 18
Part time (permanent + contract) 12 13
On secondment 1 2
Total 129 151

Other financial disclosures 

Pricing policies 
The Department does not provide any paid services 

Capital Works 
The Department carried out capital expenditure during 2016-17 totalling $0.433 million.  
For details, please fee financial statements on page XX. 

Employment and industrial relations
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2017
• Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure for the reporting period $485
• Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by the due date 

(within 5 working days)
$422

• Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled after the period 
(after 5 working days)

$49

• Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding at balance 
date

$14

Unauthorised Use of Credit Cards 2016-17
There were six incidents of single inadvertent use of credit cards by Department of 
Aboriginal Affairs’ staff during the year.  The transactions’ values were minor and were for 
parking/transportation or personal expense when on official travel. 

One officer’s card was used multiple times for unauthorised transactions within a 
settlement period.  The officer discovered that a young family member used his 
corporate purchasing card rather than the officer’s personal credit card to make on-line 
purchases.

The officers involved did not intentionally use the corporate cards for personal use.  They 
were reminded to be more attentive in using corporate cards and no further action was 
taken.

147



Board and Committee Remuneration 
Agencies are required to report on the individual and aggregate costs of remunerating all 
positions on boards and committees as defined in Premier’s Circular 2010/02 – State 
Government Boards and Committees. These boards and committees are listed on the 
Register published by the Department of the Premier and Cabinet (DPC). 

The Department supports the following boards and committees: 
• Aboriginal Lands Trust 
• Aboriginal Cultural Material Committee 
• Western Australian Aboriginal Advisory Council. 
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Aboriginal Lands Trust 
The Aboriginal Lands Trust (ALT) became responsible for the administration of lands 
previously held by the Native Welfare Department and a number of other State 
Government agencies. There are also lands that remain registered in the name of the 
Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority. Additionally, as a part of the effective management 
of its estate, the ALT undertakes strategic land acquisitions.

The ALT provides advice to the Minister for Aboriginal Affairs on ALT land issues. The ALT 
is a significant landholder with responsibility for approximately 24 million hectares or 10 
per cent of the State's land mass. This land comprises different tenures including 
reserves, leases and freehold properties. A significant proportion of this land comprises 
reserves that have Management Orders held by the ALT (generally having the power to 
lease), with their purposes mostly being for "the use and benefit of Aboriginal 
inhabitants".  The ALT meets every second month.

Details of members and remuneration for the 2016-17 year is provided in the table 
below: 
Position Name Type of remuneration Period of 

membership
Gross actual 
remuneration 

Chair Robert Isaacs Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $12,270.00
Member Irene Davey Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $4,080.00
Member Preston Thomas Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $3,500.00
Member Harold Graham Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $2,800.00
Member Patrick Green Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $4,310.00
Member Jacqueline Minney Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $2,800.00
Member Jamie Elliott N/A 12 months -
Member Simon Forrest N/A (no meetings attended in period)

Resigned - 25 November 2016
5 months -

Member Kyra Bonney Sitting fees (per meeting attended on 
17 June 2016)  Term ceased 30 June 2016

NIL in period $350.00

TOTAL $30,110
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Aboriginal Cultural Material Committee
The Aboriginal Cultural Material Committee (ACMC) is established under the Aboriginal 
Heritage Act 1972 (AHA):
• to evaluate on behalf of the community the importance of places and objects alleged to 

be associated with Aboriginal persons;
• where appropriate, to record and preserve the traditional Aboriginal lore related to such 

places and objects;
• to recommend to the Minister for Aboriginal Affairs (Minister) places and objects which, 

in the opinion of the Committee, are, or have been, of special significance to persons of 
Aboriginal descent and should be preserved, acquired and managed by the Minister;

• to advise the Minister on any question referred to the Committee, and generally on any 
matter related to the objects and purposes of this Act;

• to perform the functions allocated to the Committee by this Act;
• and to advise the Minister when requested to do so as to the apportionment and 

application of moneys available for the administration of this Act.

The ACMC meets once every month except in January as per the dates specified in the 
2017 ACMC Meeting Dates. This document also provides details on closing and advertising 
dates for Section 18 Notices and Section 16 Authorisation.

Details of members and remuneration for the 2016-17 year is provided in the table below: 

Position Name Type of remuneration Period of 
membership

Gross actual 
remuneration 

Chair Gavin Fielding Sitting fees (annual)
– resigned from Board effective 30 
June 2016

NIL in period $1,749.00

Chair Vanessa Kickett N/A 12 months -
Member Quinton Tucker Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $2,304.00
Acting Chair Lindsay Dean Sitting fees (annual) 2 months $4,134.00
Member Lindsay Dean Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $5,142.00
Acting Chair Merle Carter Sitting fees (annual) 1 month $2,067.00
Member Merle Carter Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $2,424.00
Acting Chair Patrick Churnside Sitting fees (annual) 1 month $2,067.00
Member Patrick Churnside Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $2,601.00
Member Bruce Smith Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $5,850.00

Total $28,338.00
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Western Australian Aboriginal Advisory Council
Formation of the Western Australian Aboriginal Advisory Council (WAAAC) represents a 
unique opportunity to build genuine, respectful and reciprocal relationships between 
Aboriginal people and the Western Australian Government to achieve better life outcomes 
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander men, women and children.

Central to achieving this purpose is working in partnership with the Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander community of Western Australia.  In turn, the State Government will be 
better placed to address Aboriginal disadvantage by acting on the advice and direction of 
the WAAAC and working collaboratively to achieve multiple benefit outcomes

Details of members and remuneration for the 2016-17 year is provided in the table below: 

Position Name Type of remuneration Period of 
membership

Gross actual 
remuneration 

Chair Ian Trust Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $4,640.00
Member Gail Allison Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $2,440.00
Member Gordon Gray Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $4,180.00
Member Carol Pettersen Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $3,610.00
Member Krista McMeeken Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $1,510.00
Member Phillip Matera Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $1,860.00
Member Brenda Garstone Sitting fees (per meeting attended) 12 months $1,980.00
Member Troy Eaton Sitting fees (per meeting attended)

Resigned from Board effective 11 
November 2016

4.5 months - $350.00

TOTAL $20,570.00
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Ministerial directives

No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year. 

Disclosure of contracts by senior officers

In accordance with the Treasurer’s instruction 903(14(iii)), senior officers of the 
Department are required to disclose particulars, other than normal contracts of 
employment of service, of any interest in any existing or proposed contract which a 
senior officer, or a firm of which a senior officer is a member, or an entity in which a 
senior officer has a substantial financial interest, has made with the agency or any 
subsidiary body, related body or affiliated body of the agency. 

For 2016–17, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior officers, 
or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have 
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the 
Department and senior officers.

Workers Compensation 

Three workers’ compensation claims were recorded during the financial year.
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Legal and Government 
policy requirements
• Expenditure on advertising, market research, polling and direct mail 
• Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes 
• Recordkeeping plans 
• Freedom of Information
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Expenditure on advertising, market research, polling and direct mail
In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Department incurred the 
following expenditure for advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media 
advertising. 

Expenditure Total Amount

Advertising agencies $18,463 Adcorp $18,463

Market Research Nil Nil

Polling organisations Nil Nil

Direct mail organisations $210 Createsend $210

Media advertising Nil Nil

Total $18,673
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes 
The Department is committed to facilitating the inclusion of people with disabilities 
through the improvement of access to its facilities and services.  The Disability Services 
Act 1993 requires that public authorities develop and implement a Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan (DAIP) to achieve the seven access and inclusion outcomes specified by 
the Disability Services Commission and report on these achievements. 

The information below provides a summary of how the Department provided access to 
its services, buildings and information in accordance with the Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan 2014–2017.

Outcome 1:  People with a disability have the same opportunities as other people to 
access the services of, and any events organised by, a public authority. 
• Improve management arrangements for the development, implementation and 

review of the Department’s DAIP.
• Ensure that any events are organised so that they are accessible to people with a 

disability.
• Continue to build and evaluate links between the DAIP and other Department plans, 

including Business Plans for each Branch.
• Develop and maintain relationships with disability and other community organisations 

to facilitate access and inclusion for people with disability.
• Ensure that agents and contractors are aware of the relevant requirements of the 

Disability Services Act 1993.

Outcome 2:  People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to 
access the buildings and other facilities of a public authority.
• Ensure all buildings and facilities are physically accessible to people with a disability.
• Consider access and inclusion in community planning for buildings, infrastructure, etc.  

All departmental premises are leased through Building Management and 
Works/Department of Finance, with disability access and inclusion issues part of the 
lease coordination process.
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Outcome 3:  People with disability receive information from a public authority in a 
format that will enable them to access the information as readily as other people are 
able to access it.
• Continue to ensure that all public information is made available in alternative formats 

on request.
• Regularly audit departmental publications to ensure they comply with the 

Department’s Guidelines for Accessible Formats.  An annual audit is undertaken by an 
external vendor and updates completed.

• Ensure that the Department’s website meets contemporary good practice and Public 
Sector Commission’s Web Accessibility Policy (published July 2011).  The 
Department’s website complies with the WCAG 2.0 level (AA) requirements.  The 
website was redesigned to be as accessible to as many users as possible.

Outcome 4:  People with disability receive the same level and quality of service from 
the staff of a public authority as other people receive from the staff of that public 
authority.
• Promote to staff the availability of resources on the intranet such as Guidelines for 

Accessible Formats, Office Accessibility Checklist, and useful disability contacts.
• Corporate Communications distribute an annual email message to all staff outlining its 

policies and initiatives with regard to inclusion, pointing out how and where staff can 
access additional information.

• Promote the Department’s commitment to access and inclusion.
• The Department’s email signature contains a statement promoting access and 

inclusion (‘The Department is committed to facilitating the inclusion of people with 
disabilities through the improvement of access to its facilities and services’).

• Ensure that Disability Awareness is raised with staff across all divisions.
• The DAIP is incorporated in the Induction Checklists for all new employees, 

contractors and Interns.
• The DAIP is an agenda item for the OSH Committee.
• The Department regularly shows its commitment to access and inclusion by 

promoting activities (including displaying visual material) for such events as, ‘Count 
me in’.

OVERVIEW PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

OUR 
PERFORMANCE 
& OUR PEOPLE

OUR 
OPERATIONS

DISCLOSURES 
& LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

LEGAL & POLICY 
REQUIREMENTS

155



Outcome 5:  People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to 
make complaints to a public authority. 
• Review existing complaints mechanisms to ensure they meet the needs of people 

with a disability.
• The Customer Complaints Handling policy provides for an ongoing review of the 

Department’s processes and our ability to meet the needs of its customers and 
identify ways of improving service delivery through customer feedback by analysing, 
reporting and managing change to reflect outcomes.

Outcome 6:  People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to 
participate in any public consultation by a public authority.
• During periods of public consultation draw on Disability Services Commission to 

provide contact details of organisations and people most suited to be consulted 
(based on the project or initiative).

• Ensure meetings and forums held as part of community consultations comply with 
Department’s Venue Accessibility Checklist.

Outcome 7:  People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to 
obtain and maintain employment with a public authority.
• Employment advertisements and all supporting documentation is available in 

alternative formats upon request.
• Reviewed all existing recruitment policies, procedures, templates, language, and 

formats to ensure that they are equitable and inclusive of people with a disability as 
required.

• Ensured that Job Description Forms (JDFs) are developed in an inclusive, non-
discriminatory way by focusing on the core duties or inherent requirements of the job 
and what is to be achieved, rather than how it is to be achieved.

• The Compliance section of JDFs has been further enhanced to outline all staff 
obligations pertaining to diversity and supporting employees with disability.

• Ensure adequate support services are provided for staff with a disability and remind 
staff about the purposes and processes for disclosing a disability to their employer.

• Two employees have attended Mental Health Awareness training.
• Ergonomic assessment provider to assess work stations and/or make 

recommendations regarding modifications and/or equipment.
• Promoting Employee Assistance Program services for employees.
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Recordkeeping plans 
The Department continues to operate with its Record Keeping Plan which was approved 
for a period of five years by the State Records Commission on 5th December 2014. This 
was a requirement under section 28 of the State Records Act 2000.

The Department has a large volume of critical and sensitive records associated with 
comprehensive cultural awareness information. Training is provided to staff on 
understanding cultural and the traditional Aboriginal values. These values need to be 
applied by staff and the community when accessing and viewing such records. Access 
provisions to these records can be viewed on the Department’s website 
www.daa.wa.gov.au.

A new Electronic Document Management System has enabled the Department to 
continue to improve the integration of recordkeeping with its key business operating 
systems. 
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Transfer of historical files 
From the early 1980s, both the and Department of Child Protection and Family Services 
have provided copies of historical Departmental files to Aboriginal Western Australians 
utilising files created by the Native Welfare Department (NWD) as well as other 
predecessor Departments responsible for Aboriginal affairs in Western Australia 
between 1898 and 1972.

In 1972, NWD was abolished and its files were split between the newly created 
Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority (now DAA) and the Community Welfare 
Department (now DCPFS), with the former assuming responsibility for administrative 
files and the latter assuming files of a personal nature. 

In May 2017, the Department of Child Protection and Family Services officially 
transferred ownership of these files to Aboriginal History Research Unit, complementing 
the range of archival and historical material already held by the Department.

Individuals and agencies seeking access to files will no longer need to submit requests to 
DCPFS, with AHRU assuming responsibility for the provision of the service. Not only will 
this simplify the service but it will also eliminate the element of duplication that has 
existed in the past.

The handover took place on the morning of 26 May 2017 (National Sorry Day), ahead of 
the 20th anniversary of the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity’s National Inquiry into 
the Separation of Aboriginal Children from their Families report, Bringing Them Home,
and the commencement of National Reconciliation Week 2017.
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Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 (FOI Act) created a general right of access to 
documents held by State and local government agencies. In compliance with Part 5 of 
the FOI Act, this Annual Report serves the purpose as an Information Statement.
A description of the kinds of documents held by the Department and arrangements for 
accessing those records can be viewed on the Department’s website 
www.daa.wa.gov.au.  
A formal Freedom of Information (FOI) application is required to access documents that 
are not available as part of the Department’s normal course of business.

Freedom of Information applications for 2016-17
During 2016-17, the Department received 11 valid FOI applications. Two internal reviews 
were lodged and dealt with. No requests for external reviews were received.

Lodgement of Freedom of Information applications
FOI applications, payment of application fees and any associated charges, if applicable, 
should be directed to the FOI Coordinator:

In person at the DAA East Perth Office
FOI Coordinator
Department of Aboriginal Affairs
Ground Floor, 151 Royal Street
East Perth WA 6004

By mail
FOI Coordinator
Department of Aboriginal Affairs
PO Box 3153
East Perth WA 6892

Fees and charges
The rate of fees and charges are set under the FOI Act.

Application fee for non-personal information is $30.00.

There are no fees for applications for personal information about the applicant.

Charges for dealing with the application are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per hour, or 
pro rata for a part of an hour.
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Charges for supervising inspection of documents are set at a standard rate of $30.00 per 
hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour.

The Department’s FOI Coordinator is responsible for administering the process of FOI 
applications within the Department and is the initial contact point for members of the 
community, applicants, third parties, the Office of the Information Commissioner and 
other public sector agencies for all FOI related matters.

Notice of decision
Applicants are provided with written notice of the Department’s decision compliant with 
section 30 of the FOI Act, which includes the following information:

• date of the decision;
• name and designation of the decision maker;
• reasons for deleting any matter;
• reasons for deferring access;
• arrangements for giving access;
• reasons for refusing access to any matter;
• the amount and basis for any charges levied; and
• the rights of review and procedures to be followed.

Review rights
The FOI Act provides the applicant or third party the right to have the Department’s 
initial decision reviewed. A written request for a review of that decision must be 
submitted within 30 days after being given notice of the decision.  There is no lodgement 
fee payable for an internal review. 

The review will be conducted by a person other than the person who made the original 
decision, and is not subordinate to that person. In the Department, that responsibility is 
assigned to the Principal Legal Officer. The Department must complete the review and 
provide a written notice of decision within 15 days.

If the applicant or third party is still not satisfied, then they may lodge a written 
complaint with the Office of the Information Commissioner within 60 days following the 
internal review decision (30 days for third parties). The Commissioner’s decision is final 
unless an appeal is made to the Supreme Court on a question of law. 
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Amendment of personal information
Individuals have the right to apply for amendment to personal information about them, 
contained in a document of the agency, if they believe the information is inaccurate, 
incomplete, out-of-date or misleading. Applications must be made in writing to the 
Department’s FOI Coordinator giving sufficient details to identify the document and the 
matter, which the person believes to be inaccurate, incomplete, out-of-date, or 
misleading and their reasons for believing this to be the case.

The person must give details of the amendment they want and provide an address for 
contact. 

Written notice of the initial decision must be provided to the applicant, setting out the 
reasons for the decision and the applicant’s review rights.
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Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage
Gordon Stephenson House 
140 William Street, Perth 
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